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We affirm that:

We are certified public accountants licensed to practice in Michigan.

We further affirm the following material, “no” responses have been disclosed in the financial statements, in¢luding the notes, or in the
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Check each applicable box below. (See instructions for further detail.)

All required component units/fundsfagencies of the local unit are included in the financial statements and/or disclosed in the
reporiing entity notes to the financial statements as necessary.

There are no accumulated deficits in one or more of this unit's unreserved fund balances/unrestricted net assets
(P.A. 275 of 1980) or the local unit has not exceeded its budget for expenditures.

The local unit is in compliance with the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Department of Treasury.

The local unit has adopted a budget for all required funds.

A public hearing on the budget was held in accordance with State statute.

The local unit has nat violated the Municipal Finance Act, an order issued under the Emergency Municipal Loan Act, or
other guidance as issued by the Local Audit and Finance Division.

The local unit has not been delinguent in distribuling tax revenues thal were collected for another taxing unit.
The locat unit only holds depositsfinvestments that comply with statutory requirements.

The lacal unit has no illegal or unautharized expenditures that came to our attention as defined in the Bulietin for
Audits of Local Unils of Government in Michigan, as revised (see Appendix H of Bulletin).

There are no indications of defalcation, fraud or embezzlement, which came to our attention during the course of our audit
that have not been previously communicated to the Local Audit and Finance Division (LAFD). If there is such activity that has
not been comrunicated, please submit a separate report under separate cover.

The local unit is free of repeated comments from previous years.
The audit opinian is UNQUALIFIED.

The local unit has complied with GASB 34 or GASB 34 as modified by MCGAA Statement #7 and other generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). )

The board or council approves all invoices prior o payment as required by charter or statute.

To our knowledge, bank recenciliations that were reviewed were performed timely.

If a kocal unit of government {authorities and commissions included) is operating within the boundaries of the audited entity and is not
included in this or any other audit report, nor do they obtain a stand-alone audit, please enclose the name(s), address(es), and a
description{s) of the authority and/or commissian.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Commissioners
of Van Buren County
Paw Paw, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund informaticn of Van Buren County, Michigan as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007, which
collectively comprise the County's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of Van Buren County's management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
these financial stalements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of the Van Buren
County Transit (blended compenent unit) which represents 8 percent and 42 percent of the assets and
revenues, respectively, of the business-type activities, and the Van Buren County Road Commission (discretely
presented component unit) which represents 57 percent and 54 percent of the assets and revenues,
respectively, of the aggregate discretely presented component units. Those financial statements were audited
by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the
amounts included for the Van Buren County Transit and the Van Buren County Road Commission, are based
solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Audifing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
aur opinicns.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund informatton of Van Buren County, Michigan as of September 30, 2007, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Audifing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 7, 2008 on our
consideration of Van Buren County's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreemenis and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Fast Lansing = Rochester Hills = St. Johns



The management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information, as identified in the table of
contents, are not required paris of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and
presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no
opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
Van Buren County's basic financial statements. The accompanying other supplementary information, as identified
in the table of contents, is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. The other supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Ol cun )&%M—:‘?-C -

ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

May 7, 2008
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The following is a discussion and analysis of Van Buren County's (the County's) financial performance and
position, providing an overview of the activities for the year ended September 30, 2007. This analysis should be
read in conjunction with the Independent Auditors Reportf, beginning on page i of this report, and with the
County's financial statements, which follow this section.

Certain limited financial information is presented with respect to the Van Buren County Road Commission, the
Van Buren County District Public Health Department, and the Van Buren County Transit. The reader should
refer to the Road Commission's, Health Bepartment’s, and Transit's separately issued financial statements for
more detailed information.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-wide:

s Total net assets as of September 30, 2007, were $32,115,152 {excluding component units).
+ Governmental activities net assets were $21,670,781.

¢ Business-type aclivities net assets were $10,444,371.

s Component Unit net assets were $58,069,473,

Fund Level:

» At the close of the fiscal year, the County’s governmental funds reported a total ending fund balance of
$11,631,458 with $356,857 being reserved, designated, or ctherwise earmarked for specific purpeses.

* The General Fund realized $920,138 more in revenues and other financing sources than anticipated for the
fiscal year. General Fund operations also expended $738,056 less than appropriated.

» Qverall, the General Fund balance increased by $1,092,556 to $3,797,485 with $3,502,485 undesignated or
available for general purposes.

Capital and Long-term Debt Activities:

 The governmental activities of the primary government added $406,145 in capital assets during the fiscal
year.

= The business-type activities of the primary government issued $3,000,000 of delinquent tax notes during the
fiscal year.

s The total long-term debt for the primary government was $7,021,813 with a net reduction of $2,534,180 from
the prior year.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial report of the County consists of the following components: 1) Independent Auditors Report;
2} Management's Discussion and Analysis and 3) the Basic Financial Statements (government-wide financial
statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial statements), Required Supplementary Information
such as budget to actual comparisons for the General Fund and major Special Revenue Funds, and Other
Supplementary information including combining financial statements for all nonmajor governmental funds and
proprietary funds and other financial data.

Government-wide Financial Statements {Reporting the County as a Whole)

The set of government-wide financial statements are made up of the Statement of Net Assets and the
Statement of Activities, which report information about the County as a whole, and about its activities. Their
purpose is to assist in answering the guestion, is the County, in its entirety, better or worse off as a result of this
fiscat year's activities? These statements, which include ali non-fiduciary assets and liabilities, are reported on
the accrual basis of accounting, similar to a private business. This means revenues are accounted for when
they are earned and expenses are accounted for when incurred, regardless of when the actual cash is received
or dishursed.
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The Statement of Net Assets (page 1) presents all of the County's assets and liabilities, recording the difference
between the two as "net assets”. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets measure whether the
County’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities (page 2} presents information showing how the County's net assets changed during
2007. All changes in net assets are reported based on the peried for which the underlying events giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenue and expenses are
reported in these statements for some items that will only result in cash flows in future financial periods, such as
uncollected taxes and earned but unused employee annual leave.

Both statements report the following activities:

«  Governmental Aclivities - Most of the County's basic services are repoerted under this category. Taxes,
charges for services and intergovernmental revenue primarily fund these services. Most of the County's
general government depariments, law enforcement, the courts, the Board of Commissioner operations, and
other countywide elected official operations are reported under these activities.

¢ Business-type Activities - These activities operate like private businesses. The County charges fees to
recover the cost of the services provided. The Delinquent Tax Funds, Jail Commissary, and Public Transit
are examples of these activities.

s Discretely Presented Component Units - Discretely Presented Component units are legally separate
organizations for which the Board of Commissiocners appoints a majority of the organization’s pelicy board
and there is a degree of financial accountability to the County. Five organizations are included as
component units: the Van Buren County Road Commission, Van Buren/Cass County District Public Health
Department, Drainage Districts, Department of Public Works, and the Economic Development Corporation.

As stated previously, the government-wide statements report on an accrual hasis of accounting. However, the
governmental funds report on a modified accrual basis. Under medified accrual accounting, revenues are
recognized when they are measurable and available to pay obligations of the fiscal period; expenditures are
recognized when they are due to be paid from available resources.

Because of the different basis of accounting between the fund statements {described below} and the
government-wide statements, pages 5 and 8 present reconciliations between the two statement types. The
following summarizes the impact of transitioning from modified accrual to full accrual accounting:

¢ Capital assets used in governmental activities (depreciation) are not reported on the fund financial
statements of the governmental funds; however depreciation expense is reported on the government-wide
statements.

» Capilal outlay spending resulls in capital assets on the government-wide statements, but is reported as
expenditures on the fund financial statements of the governmental funds.

¢ Internal service funds are reported as governmental activities on the government-wide statements, but are
reported as proprietary funds on the fund financial statements.

* Long-term liabilities, such as reserves for sick and annual leave (compensated absences), etc. appear as
liakilities on the government-wide statements; however they will not appear on the fund financial statements
unless current resources are used to pay a specific obligation.

¢« Bond proceeds are reported as liabilities on the government-wide statements, but are recorded as other
financing sources on the fund financial statements.

In addition, it should be noted that the government-wide financial statements include the net value of the
County's general capital assets such as buildings, land, cars, computer equipment, etc. These values are not
included in the fund financial statements.
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Fund Financial Statements [Reporting the County's Major Funds}

The fund financial statements, which begin on page 3, provide information on the County's significant (major)
funds, and aggregated nonmajor funds. Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the
Fund Financial Statements presentation more familiar.

A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that the County uses to keep track
of specific sources of funding and spending for a particular purpose. State law or policy requires some separate
funds, such as the Child Care Fund; other funds are required by bond or grant agreements, such as the Friend
of the Court Fund. Funds are also utilized to track specific operations; these include the internal services funds
as well as enterprise funds such as the Jail Commissary and Delinquent Tax Funds.

The basic financial statements report major funds as defined by the Government Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) in separate columns. Statement 34 defines a “major fund" as the General Fund, and any governmental
or enterprise fund which has either total assets, total liabilities, total revenues or tolal expenditures/expenses
that equal at least ten (10} percent of those categories for either the governmental funds or the enterprise funds
and where the individual fund total also exceeds five (8) percent of those categories for governmental and
enterprise funds combined. The major funds for Van Buren County include the General Fund, the Housing
Program Income Fund, the Workforce Development Fund, the Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund, the Delinguent
Tax Revolving Fund, the 2006 Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, and the Delinguent Tax Forfeitures Fund. Ali
other funds are classified as nonmajor funds and are reported in aggregate by the applicable fund type. The
County includes detailed information on its nonmajor funds in the other supplementary information section of
this report.

The County's funds are divided into three categories - governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary - and use
different accounting approaches:

« Governmental Funds - Most of the County's basic services are reported in the governmental funds. The
facus of these funds is how cash and other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash, flow in
and out during the course of the fiscal year and how the balances left at year-end are available for spending
on future services. Consegquently, the governmental fund financial statements provide a detailed short-term
view that helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that may be expended in the
near future to finance the County’s programs. Governmental funds include the General Fund, as well as
Special Revenue Funds (use of fund balance is restricted), Capifal Projects Funds (used to report major
capital acquisitions and construction), and Debt Service Funds {accounts for resources used to pay long-
term debt principal and interest).

s Proprietary Funds - Services for which the County charges customers (whether outside the County
structure or 2 County department) a fee are generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds use
the same accrual basis of accounting used in the government-wide statements and by private business.
There are two types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds report activities that provide supplies and/or
services to the general public. Internal Service funds report activities that provide supplies or service to the
County's other operations. Internal Service funds are reported as governmental activities on the
government-wide statements.

» Fiduciary Funds - The County acts as a trustee or fiduciary in certain instances. The County's fiduciary
aclivities are reported in a separate statement on page 17. The government-wide statements exclude the
fiduciary fund aclivities and balances because these asseis are not available to the County to fund its
operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of
the detail provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The Notes can be found beginning on
page 21 of this report.
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Required Supplementary Information

Following the Basic Financial Statements is additional Required Supplementary Information (RS1), which further
explains and supports the information in the financial statements. RSI includes a budgetary comparison
schedules for the General Fund and the major special revenue funds.

Other Supplementary Information

Other Supplementary Information includes combining financial statements for nonmajor governmental,
proprietary, and fiduciary funds. These funds, except for the fiduciary funds, are added together, by fund type,
and are presented in aggregate single columns in the appropriate basic financial statements.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY AS AWHCLE
As previously stated, Van Buren County's combined net assets were $32,115,152 at the end of this fiscal year's
operations. The net assets of the governmental activities were $21,670,781; the business type activities were
$10,444,371.

Net Assets as of September 30, 2007 and 2006

Business- Businass- Total Total
Governmental Governmental Type Type Primary Primary
Activities Activities Activities Activities Government Government
2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006
Current and Other Assets $ 15,781,213 $ 10,397,233 $ 13,332,028 $ 13,211,095 $ 29,113,241 $ 23,608,328
Capital Assets 11,214,284 11,607 696 392,883 545281 11,607,167 12,152,977
Total Assets §269095497  §22,004929 $13724911  $13766,376 $ 40,720,408  §35761,305
Current Liabilities $ 2,552,035 $ 1,141,315 S 268,604 % 27,685 % 2,820,639 $ 1,169,000
Noncurrent Liabilities 2,772,681 4,888,597 3,014,936 4,992 396 5.784.617 9,880,993
Total Liabilities 8 5324716 & 6020012 £ 3,280,540 5 5,020,081 £_18.605 256 511,049,993
Net Assets
Invested in Capital Assets
{Net of retated debt) $ 8,469,284 § 7,747,606 $ 392,883 $ 545,281 $ 8,862,167 $ 8,292,977
Restricted 6,844,455 6,200,834 - - 6.844.455 6,200,834
Unrestricted 6,367 042 2,026,487 10,051,488 8,191,014 16,408,530 10,217,501
Total Net Assats £.21,670.781 $15,975017 510,444,371 $_8,736,205 $.32,115152 524,711,312
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The following condensed financial information was derived from the government-wide Statement of Activities
and reflects how the County's primary government net assets changed during the fiscal year:

Changes in Net Assets for the Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 2007 and 2006

Business Business
Governmental Governmental Type Type
Activities Activities Activities Activitins Yotal Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Revenuas
Charges for Services $ 5,931,512 $ 3,586,988 $ B45,580 $ 1,722,320 $ 877702 $ 5,309,309
Grants and Contributions 15,587,511 10,187,724 519,469 488,516 16,106,980 10,676,240
General Revenues
Property Taxes 18,726,469 12,944,727 1,604,554 - 20,331,023 12,944 727
Investment Eamings 489,190 259979 287,704 155,378 776,894 415,357
Miscellaneous 85,130 685,297 3,583 - 88,713 B85 287
Total Revenues 40,814,812 27,664,716 3,260,900 2,366,214 44,080,712 30,030,930
Expenses
General Government 10,834,564 8,133,747 - - 10,834,564 8,133,747
Public Safety 8,339,031 5,970,815 - - 8,339,031 5,970,815
Public Works 6,672 57,696 - - 6,672 57,696
Health and Welfare 6,722,688 5,132,255 - - 6,722,688 5,132,255
Community and Econ. Dev. 8,966,506 5,882,828 - - 8,966,506 5,882,838
Interest on Long Term Debt 171,586 74,667 - 76,068 171,586 150,735
Other 83,000 278,847 1,552,824 1,140,026 1,635,824 1418 673
Total Expansas 35,124,047 25 530,665 1,552,824 1,216,094 36,676,871 26,746,759
Increase (decrease)
in Net Assets 5,695,765 2,134,051 1,708,076 1,150,120 7,403,841 3,284,111
Restated Net Assels -
Beginning 15,975,017 13,840,966 8 736,295 7,586,175 24,711,312 21,427,141
Net Assets - Ending $21,670.782  $15975017  £10,444371 $ 8736205  § 32315183  $.24711.312

Governmental Activities:

The result of 2007 governmental activity was an increase of $5,695,765 to lift net assets to $21,670,782. Of the
total governmental activities' net assets, $8,469,284 is invested in capital assets less related debt, $6,844,455 is
reported as restricted, meaning these assets are legally committed for a specific purpose through statue, or by
another authority outside the County government. The balance of $6,357,042 is listed as unrestricted, having
no legal commitment.

Revenues:

The three largest revenue categories for governmental activities were property taxes at 46%, grants and
contributions at 38%, and charges for services at 15%. The County levied property tax millages for revenue in
2007, including levies for general government operations at 5.9927 mills (combined winter and summer), which
is not assigned to any particular activity, ambulance services at .9475 mills, public safety at .5392 mills, public
transit at .2500 mills, and roads at .9802 mills.

Expenses:

General government is the largest governmental activity, expending 30% of total governmental activities
expenses and includes offices such as Circuit Court, District Court, Probate/Juvenile Court, Prosecuting
Attorney, Board of Commissioners, Treasurer, Clerk, Register of Deeds, Elections and MSU Extension.
Community and Economic Development is the second largest area, expending 26%. Community and Economic
Development includes the expenses of the Housing and Land Preservation activities.

- vii -
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Business-type Activities:

Net assets of business-type activities increased by $1,078,076 during 2007.

Of the total business-type activities net assets, $10,051,488 is reported as unrestricted. However, it is important
to note that although reported as unrestricted, many of these assets are anticipated to be designated through
Board of Commissioners action to be spent on General Fund activities and self~funding of delinquent tax
payments in future years.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY'S MAJOR FUNDS

As the County completed 2007, its governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $11,631,458 a net
increase of $3,830,897. The net changes are summarized in the following chart:

Housing Workforce Revenue Nonmajor
General Program Development Sharing Governmental
Fund Income Board Reserve Funds

Fund
Balance
9/30/06 $2,704,920 | $ 6,718 $ - $2,832,259 $2,256,655
Fund
Balance
9/30/07 $3,797485 | $ 30,526 $ - $4,692,974 $3,110,473
Net Change $1,092556 | $§ 23,808 $ -0- $1,860,715 $ 853,818

General Fund:

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. Unless otherwise required by statue, contractual
agreement or Board policy, all County revenues and expenditures are recorded in the General Fund. As of
September 30, 2007 the General Fund reported a fund balance of $3,797,485. Of the total fund balance,
$295,000 is reserved, designated or earmarked for specific purposes.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights:

Van Buren County's budget is a dynamic document. Ailthough adopted prior to the start of the year, the budget
is frequently amended during the course of the year to reflect changing operational demands.

Actual General Fund revenue and cther financing sources totaled $20,396,738; $920,138 above the final
amended budget. There were some wide variations in individual revenue accounts reflecting the tightening
national and local economy. Significantly, property tax revenue was $685,852 greater than budgeted amounts.

The County's General Fund total expenditures and other financing uses budget was increased by $629,173 (just
slightly more than 3% above the original budget) during 2007.

Actual County expenditures for 2007 were $738,056 below budget. This is due to several reasons including:

+ Management and Sheriffs Department Unions failed to agree on a new collective bargaining agreement
which resulted in a savings to the budget of approximately $100,000. This should be considered only
temporary and will be expended in the next fiscal year
Overall, Public Safety was approximately $255,000 under budget

s The Child Care Fund expenditures were less than expended and as a result, their appropriation requirement
was $120,000 [ess than anticipated.

- viii -
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Housing Program Income Fund:

The Fund Balance increased from $42,623 to $71,483 which resulted from a mortigage pay off at the end of the
fiscal year and we were unable to loan the monies to another eligible candidate. This fund is designed to loan
monies as scon as new monies become available.

Workforce Development Board Fund:

Van Buren County is the fiduciary for the Workforce Development Board. The monies are received into the
County and then with proper documentation, the funds are released to the Tri-county Program. The County
should not retain a fund balance due to the fact all monies should be expended for program eligible costs.

Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund:

It is the policy of the County Board of Commissioners that the County dependence upon State Shared Revenue
should be gradually decreased each year. [n the 2006-2007, the appropriate was decreased from $1,500,000 to
$1,200,000 while in the 2007-2008 the amount has been reduced to $900,000. As you will notice, the Fund
Balanced contained in this audit shows the cash position is $4,692,974.

CAPITAL ASSETS ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets - At the end of Fiscal Year 2007, the County had invested $24,317,687 for the primary
government and $14,204,478 for the component units (excluding the Community Health Agency, Road
Commission, and Community Mental Health Services, see separately issued financial statements}, net of
accumulated depreciation, in a broad range of capital assets (see table below). Accumulated depreciation was
$17,281,830 for the primary government. Depreciation charges for the fiscal year totaled $1,610,474 for the
primary government and $521,726 for the component units.

Business-
Governmental type
Activities Activities Total

Land $ 1,590,706 3 - $ 1,590,706
Land

improvements, net 83,943 71,729 155,672
Buildings, net 8,394,645 96,581 8,491,226
Equipment, net 1,144,990 33.164 1,178,154
Vehicles, net - 191,408 191,409
Capital assets, net | § 11,214,284 | £ 11,607,167 |

VAN BUREN COUNTY GOVERNMENT ECONOMIC OUTLOOK:

The County has reduced its dependence upon State Shared Revenue to less than 6% of the GF Revenues
Other state and federal revenues and/or grants are stagnant.

Property tax revenue has increased due to economic expansion and a continued demand for housing.
Investment earnings were higher than expected.

Health and Dental insurance premiums are rising much faster than the rate of inflation.

Liability insurance premiums due to stronger internal management have stabilized.

We lock for strong growth over the next five to seven years as a result of a recent announcement by the
County's largest employer that they anticipate increasing employment in the County by 2,900 new jobs.
This should result in approximately 2,900 spin off jobs in other sectors of the County.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2007
These factors were considered in adopting the Budget for 2008. For the first time in many years the County's

Budget contained a $500,000 contingency and did not require a supplemental appropriation from the County's
Delinquent Tax Fund. In fact, the County Delinquent Tax Fund grew for the second conclusive year,

CONTACTING THE COUNTY

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a
general overview of the County's finances and to demonstrate the County's accountability for the money it
receives. If there are questions about this report, or a need for additional information, contact the Van Buren
County Treasurer’s Office at (269) 657-8228 or Van Buren County Administrator's Office at (269) 657-8253.



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Van Buren County, Michigan
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
September 30, 2007

Primary Govemment

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,985,580 $ 7.450,792 $£16,438,372 $ 5,481,963
Investrments - 513,611 513,611 -
Receivables 5,635,954 5,186,182 10,822,136 6,639,146
Due from other govemmental units 879,679 152,054 1,031,733 1,778,068
Inventories - 11,568 11,568 1,126,717
Prepaids - 17,821 17,821 125,504
Total current assets 15,501,213 13,332,028 28,833,241 15,151,398
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash - - -0- 1,916,226
Lease receivable - - -0- 41,000,000
Advances to other govemmental units 280,000 - 280,000 -
Capital assets not being depreciated 1,590,706 - 1,590,706 13,838,865
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 9,623,578 392,883 10,016,461 41,701,264
Total noncurrent assets 11,494,284 392,883 11,887,167 98,456,355
TOTAL ASSETS 26,995,497 13,724,911 40,720,408 113,607,753
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 685,063 52,310 737,373 416,877
Accrued liabilities 644 677 11,294 655,971 90,567
Due to other governmental units - - -0- 285,566
Deferred revenue 119,000 25,000 144,000 1,976,010
Performance bonds payable - - -0- 4,000
Accrued interest payable 46,009 - 46,099 742,315
Current portion of compensated absences 272,196 - 272,196 63,223
Current portion of long-term debt 785,000 180,000 965,000 2,759,478
Total current liabilities 2,552,035 268,604 2,820,639 6,338,036
Nencurrent liabilities
Advances from other governmental units - - -0- 280,000
Noncurrent portion of compensated absences 812,681 11,936 824,617 419,790
Nencurrent portion of long-term debt 1,960,000 3,000,000 4,960,000 45,583,189
Total noncurrent liabiliies 2,772,681 3,011,936 5,784,617 46,282,979
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,324,716 3,280,540 8,605,256 52,621,015
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related deht 8,469,284 392,883 8,862,167 50,502,462
Restricted for
Public safety 756,316 - 756,316 -
Capital improvement 61,857 - 61,857 -
County roads - - -0- 7,116,146
Other purposes §,026,282 - 5,026,282 -
Unrestricted 6,357,042 10,051,488 16,408,530 3,368,130
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 21,670,781 $10,444,371 $32,115,152 % 60,986,738

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




Van Buren County, Michigan

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Nel Assels

Program Revenues Primary Government
Chargas for Operating Grants Capital Grants Govemmenial Business-type Component
Funclions/Pragrams Expenses Services and Contributions and Contribulions Aclivilies Aclivilies Total Unils
Primary government
Governmental activities
General government $ 10,834,564 § 3,993348 ] 2,483,525 $ - $ (4397691) & - 5 (4.357691) 5 -
Public safely 8,339,031 1,233,376 2,490,910 - {4.614,745) - {4,614,745) -
Pubilic works 6,672 - - - {6,672) - {6,672) -
Health and welfare 6,722,688 136,150 1,736,985 - {4,849,553) - {4,849,553) -
Community and economic development 8,966,506 437,926 8,876,001 - 397,511 - 397,511 -
Recraalion and culiural 83,000 80,712 - - (2,288) - {2,288) -
Interest on long-term debt 171,586 - - - {171,586} - {171,586) -
Total governmental activities 35,124,047 5,931,512 15,587,511 -0- {13.605,024) -0- (13,605,024) -0-
Business-type activities
Delinguent Tax Revolving 8,597 - . - . {8,597) {8.597) -
2006 Delinquant Tax Revolving 47,172 - - - - {57,172) {57,172) -
Delinguent Tax Forfeilures 277,088 444 407 - - - 167,319 167,319 -
Nonmagjor enterprise funds 1,209.967 401,183 482,605 36,564 - {289.315) (289.315) -
Total business-type activities 1,552,824 845,590 482,605 36,564 -0- (187,765) (187.765) -0-
Tetal primary government . _% 36,676,871 $ 6,777,102 S 16.070.116 S 36.864 {13,605,024} (187,765) {13,792,789) -0-
Component unils
Road Commission $ 9,509,760 § 250,456 s 7,458,449 $ 3,094,231 - - -0- 1,293,396
District Public Health 5,976,937 1,598,763 3,497 856 - - - -0- {880,278}
Depariment of Public Works 2,031,386 - 2,009,555 - - - -0- (21,831}
Ecenomic Development Corporalion 210,134 209,000 - - - - -0- {1,134}
DOralnage District 404,862 - - 383,095 - - -0- (21,767}
Total component unils S 18133079 § 2058219 § 12,965.900 & 3,477,348 -0- -0- -0- 368,386
Genera! revenues
Property laxes 18,726,469 1,604,554 20,331,023 1,673,318
State revenues - - - 188,426
County appropriations - - - 643,479
Investment eamings 489,190 287,704 776,894 124,636
Gain on equipment disposal - - - 120,354
Miscellanecus 85,129 3,583 88,712 16,096
Tolal general revenues and iransfars 19,300,788 1,895,841 21,186,629 2,766,309
Change in net assels 5,695,764 1,708,076 7,403,840 3,134,695
Net assets, beginning of the year 15,975,017 8,736,295 24,711,312 57,852,043
Net assets, end of the year $ 21.670.781 5 10444371 $ 32115152 $ 60,986,738

See accompanying notes to financtal stataments.




Van Buren County, Michigan
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

September 30, 2007

Housing Workiorce
Program Development
General Income Board
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 769,208 b 30,526 3 -
Receivables
Accounts 11,091 - -
Taxes 4,095,440 - -
Loans - 1,518,789 -
Due from other governmental units
Federal/State 247 677 - -
Local 62,846 - -
Advances to other funds 15,000 - -
Advances to other governmental units 280,000 - -
TOTAL ASSETS $ 5,481,262 $ 1,548,315 8 -0-
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 135,579 % - 3 -
Accrued liabilities 296,011 - -
Judgements payable 216,667 - -
Advance from other funds - - -
Deferred revenue 1,035,520 1,518,789 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,683,777 1,518,789 -0-
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Advances 295,000 - -
Capital projects - - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
General Fund 3,502,485 - -
Special Revenue Funds - 30,526 -
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 3,797,485 30,526 -0-
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES $ 5481,262 $ 1,549,315 $ -0-

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Revenue Nonmajor Total
Sharing Governmental Governmental
Reserve Funds Funds
$ 4,692,974 $ 3,2823828 $ 8,775,536
- 10,634 21,725
- - 4,095,440
- - 1,518,789
- 539,156 786,833
- 30,000 92,846
- - 15,000
- - 280,000
$ 4692974 $ 3,862,618 $ 15,586,169
$ - $ 498,542 3 634,091
- 129,633 425,644
- - 216,667
- 5,000 5,000
- 119,000 2,673,309
-0- 752,145 3,954,711
- - 295,000
- 61,857 61,857
- - 3,502,485
4,692,974 3,048,616 7,772,116
4,692,974 3,110,473 11,631,458
$ 4,692,974 $ 3862618 5 15,586,169




Van Buren County, Michigan

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2007

Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 11,631,458
Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the statement of net assets are difierent because;

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in the governmental funds.

The cost of capital assets is $ 23,977,163
Accumulated depreciation is {(12,762,879)
Capital assets, net 11,214,284

Intemal Service Funds are used by management to charge the costs

of certain activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities

of the Internal Service Funds are included in the governmental activities
in the Government-wide Statement of Net Assets.

Net assets of governmental activities
accounted for in Internal Service Funds 146,706

Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period
expenditures and therefore are not reported as assets in the funds.
Long-term receivables at year-end consist of:

Deferred revenue 2,554,309
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and

therefore are not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.
Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Direct County obligations 2,745,000
Accrued interest payable 46,099
Compensated absences 1,084,877
(3.875,976)
Net assets of governmental activities $ 21,670,781

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Van Buren County, Michigan

Governmental Funds

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

REVENUES

Taxes

Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Interest and rents
Other

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Community and economic development
Recreation and cultural
Other

Capital outlay

Debt service

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES}) (3.806,686)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

Housing Workforce

Program Development

General Income Board
$ 11,202,314 - 9 -
107,436 - -
3,168,222 74,339 8,491,324
3,182,533 - -
186,366 - -
1,238,416 - -
111,451 - -
19,196,738 74,339 8,491,324
8,660,468 - -
4,345 532 - -
6,625 - -
1,048,290 - -
- 50,531 8,491,324
236,581 - -
14,297 496 50,531 8,491,324
4,899,242 23,808 -0-
1,200,000 - -
{5,006,686) - -
-0- -0-
1,092,556 23,808 -0-
2,704,929 6,718 -
$ 3,797,485 30,526 $ -0-

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Revenue Nonmajor Total
Sharing Governmental Governmental
Reserve Funds Funds

$ 3,060,715 $ 3,427,920 % 17,690,949
- - 107,436

- 2,792,300 14,526,185

- 1,082,014 4,264,547

- 161,961 348,327

- 159,070 1,397,486

- 924,323 1,035,774

3,060,715 8,547,588 39,370,704
- 1,631,079 10,291,547

- 3,748,887 8,094,419

- - 6,625

- 5,413,874 6,462,164

- 362,383 8,904,238

- 77,781 77,781

- - 236,581

- 239,866 239,866

- 1,226,586 1,226,586

-0- 12,700,456 35,538,807
3,060,715 (4,152,868) 3,830,897

- 5,030,748 6,230,748
(1,200,000) {24,062) (6,230,748)
{1.200,000) 5,006,686 -0-
1,860,715 853,818 3,830,897

2,832,259 2,256,655 7,800,561
$ 4,692,974 $ 3,110,473 $ 11,631,458




Van Buren County, Michigan

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$ 3,830,897

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives as depreciaticn expense. In the current period, these amounts are:

Capital outlay $ 406,145
Depreciation expense (739,557)

Excess of depreciation expense over capital outlay

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities to individual funds.

Increase in net assets of Internal Service Funds

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources

are not reported as revenues in the funds. In the current period, these amounts consist of:

Increase in deferred revenue

(333,412)

61,551

1,448,107

Repayment of long-term debt and borrowing of long-term debt is reported as expenditures and

other financing sources in governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities and the borrowings increase long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.
In the current year, these amounts consist of:

Bond principal retirement

Some itemns reported in the statemnent of activities do not require the use of current financial

resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. These
activities consist of:

{Increase} in accrued interest payable (46,099)
{Increase} in accrued compensated absences (321,280}

Change in net assets of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1,066,000

(367.379)
$ 5,695,764



Van Buren County, Michigan
Proprietary Funds
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2007

Business-type

2006
Delinquent Tax Delinguent Tax  Delinquent Tax
Revolving Revolving Forfeitures
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5162924 § {431,951}y § 1,884,993
Investments 513,611 - -
Receivables
Accounts - - 15,367
Taxes 154,045 4,082,393 -
Due from other governmental units 102,571 - -
Inventories - - -
Prepaids - - -
Total current assets 5,933,151 3,650,442 1,800,360
Noncurrent assets
Advance to other funds - - 82,317
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation - - -
Total noncurrent assets -0- -0- 82,317
TOTAL ASSETS 5,933,151 3,650,442 1,982,677
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable - - 6,739
Accrued liabilities - - -
Deferred revenue - - -
Current portion of bonds payable - - -
Total current liabilities -0- -0- 6,739
iNoncurrent liabilities
Advance from other funds - - -
Noncurrent portion of compensated absences - - -
Neoncurrent portion of bonds payable - 3,000,000 -
Total noncurrent liabilities -0- 3,000,000 -0-
TOTAL LIABILITIES -0- 3,000,000 6,739
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - - -
Unrestricted 5,933,151 650,442 1,975,938
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 5,933,151 $ 650,442 § 1,975,938

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Governmental

Activities Activities
Nonmajor Internal
Enterprise Service

Funds Total Fund
$ 834826 § 7450792 § 210,044
- 513,611 -
26,118 41,485 -
908,259 5,144 697 -
49,483 152,054 -
11,568 11,568 -
17,821 17,821 -
1,848,075 13,332,028 210,044
- 82,317 -
392,883 392,883 -
392,883 475,200 -0-
2,240,958 13,807,228 210,044
45,571 52,310 50,972
11,284 11,294 2,366
25,000 25,000 -
180,000 180,000 -
261,865 268,604 53,338
82,317 82,317 10,000
11,936 11,936 -
- 3,000,000 -
94,253 3,094,253 10,000
356,118 3,362,857 63,338
392,883 392,883 -
1,491,957 10,051,488 146,706
$ 1,884,840 § 10,444,371 $ 146,706

-10 -



Van Buren County, Michigan
Proprietary Funds
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Business-type

2006
Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax
Revolving Revolving Forfeitures
OPERATING REVENUES
Praoperty taxes, interest, and penalties 3 18,150 & 707,614 % -
Charges for services - - 444,407
Other - - -
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 18,150 707,614 444 407
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries - - -
Fringe benefits - - -
Operating supplies 2,408 - 134,856
Contractual services 810 - 142,232
Depreciation - - -
Other 5,379 - -
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 8,597 -(J- 277,088
OPERATING INCOME 9,553 707,614 167,319
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State operating grants - - -
Federal operating grants - - -
Local operating grants - - -
Bond issuance costs - (12,401) -
Interest revenue 245,352 - -
Interest expense - {44,771) -
Other - - -
TOTAL NONOPERATING
REVENUES (EXPENSES) 245,352 (57,172) -0-
INCOME BEFORE CAPITAL
CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS 254,905 650,442 167,319
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS - - -
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 254,905 650,442 167,319
Net assets, beginning of year 5,678,246 - 1,808,618
Net assets, end of year $ 5,933,151 3 650442 § 1975938

See accompanying notes ta financial statements.

-11 -



Governmental

Activities Activities
Nonmajor Internal
Enterprise Service

Funds Total Fund
5 §78,790 $ 1,604,554 5 -
401,183 845,590 3,508,882
- -0- 5,962
1,279,973 2,450,144 3,514,844
334,681 334,681 -
219,620 219,620 3,419,256
218,988 356,252 -
86,756 229,798 34,290
177,099 177,099 -
40,670 46,049 -
1,077,814 1,363,499 3,453,546
202,159 1,086,645 61,298
329,986 329,986 -
140,046 140,046 -
12,573 12,573 -
- (12,401} -
42,352 287,704 253
(132,153) {176,924) -
3,583 3,583 -
396,387 584,567 253
598,546 1,671,212 61,551
36,864 36,864 -
635,410 1,708,076 61,551
1,249,430 8,736,295 85,155
$ 1,884,840 $ 10,444,371 $ 146,706

-12-



Van Buren County, Michigan

Proprietary Funds

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from cusiomers
Cash received from other funds
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees for services and benefits
Cash paid to other funds

NET CASH PROVIDED {(USED) BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Intergovernmental sources
Bond issuance costs
Interest expense
Proceeds from bonds
Payments on borrowings

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY
NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributed by governmental units
Capital purchases

NET CASH PROVIDED BY CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments
Interest revenue
Other

NET CASH PROVIDED {USED) BY
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Business-type

2006
Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax
Revolving Revolving Forfeitures
$ 1,170,086 $ 707,614 $ 444 548
(8.597) {4,082,393) (271,132)
- - (82,317}
1,161,499 (3,374,779) 91,009
- {12,401) -
- {44,771) -
- 3,000,000 -
-0- 2,942,828 -0-
-0- -0- -Q-
(513.611) - -
245,352 - -
{268,259) -Q- -0-
893,240 {431,851) 91,099
4,269,684 - 1,793,894
$ 5162924 3 (431,851) § 1,884,993

13-



Governmental

Aclivities Aclivilies
Nenmajor Internak
Enterprise Service

Funds Total Fund

$ 4084013 § 6,406,271 $ 3,514,844
82,317 82,317 -
(145,327) (4,507,449) {34,290)
(704,550) {704,550) (3.366,025)

- {82,317) -
3,316,453 1,194,272 114,529
482,605 482 605 -

- {12,401) -
{132,153) {176,924) -

- 3,000,000 -
{4,800,000) {4,800,000) -
{4,449,548) (1,506,720) -0-
36,864 36,864 -
{24,701) {24,701) -
12,163 12,163 -0-

- {513,611) -

42,352 287,704 253
3,583 3,583 -
45,935 (222,324) 253
(1,074,997 (522,609) 114,782
1,909,823 7,973,401 95,262
5 834,826 § 7.450,792 3 210,044

14 -



Van Buren County, Michigan

Proprietary Funds

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided (used} by operating activities
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income

to net cash provided {used) by operating activities

Depreciation

{Increase) decrease in receivables

{Increase) decrease in due from other
govermmental units

(Increase) in advance to other funds

(Increase) in inventories

(Increase} in prepaids

Ingrease in accounts payable

Increase in accrued liabilities

Increase in deferred revenue

{Decrease) in compensated absences

Increase in advance from other funds

(Decrease) in other liabilities

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED)
BY OFERATING ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

-15-

Business-type
2006
Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax  Delinquent Tax
Revolving Revolving Forfeitures

$ 9,553 5 707,614 167,319
897,103 (4,082,393) 141
154,843 - -
- - (82,317)

- - 6,557
- - {601}

$ 1,161,499 $ (3.3714779) % 91,099




Governmental

Activities Activities
Nonmajor Internal
Enterprise Service
Funds Total Funds
$ 202,159 $ 1,086,645 % 61,208
177,099 177,099 -
2,840,727 (244,422) -
(36,687) 118,156 -
- (82,317) -
(2,581) (2,581) -
(1,084) {1.084) -
30,465 37,022 50,972
- -0- 2,259
25,000 25,000 -
(460) {460) -
82,317 82,317 -
{502} (1,103) -
$ 3,316,453 $ 1,194272 $ 114,529

-16 -



Van Buren County, Michigan
Fiduciary Funds
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2007

Agency
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7175254
LIABILITIES
Due to other governmental units $ 6975425
Due to individuals and agencies 199,829
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 7,175,254

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Component Unit Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

ASSETS
Current assels
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Taxes
Accounts
Loans
Special assessment
Interest
Due from olher governmental units
Inventories
Prepaids
Current portion of lease receivable

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash
Lease receivable
Capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, net of accurnulated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other governmental units
Deferred revenue
Performance bonds payable
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of compensated absences
Current portion of long-term debt

Tota! current liabilities

Noncurrenl liabililies
Advances from other governmental units
Noncurrent portion of compensated absences
MNoncurrent portion of lang-term debt

Total noncurrent liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for
Counly roads
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET ASSETS
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

September 30,2007

District Department
Road Public of Public
Commission Health Works

& 3,879,215 % 445 890 162,563
1,800,000 - -
42 956 630,043 60,917
1,042,308 735,760 -
907,869 218,848 -
- 125,504 -
- - 2,917,265
7,672,348 2,156,045 3,140,745
1,916,226 - -
- - 41,000,000
13,838,885 - -
40,777,060 232,755 -
56,532,151 232,755 41,000,000
64,204,499 2,388,800 44 140,745
20,024 370,046 -
90,567 - -
285,566 - -
1,800,000 176,010 -
4,000 - -
- - 739,217
- 63,223 -
231,811 - 2,305,000
2,431,968 609,279 3,044,217
272,271 147,519 -
4,568,189 - 41,000,000
4,840 460 147,519 41,000,000
7,272,428 756,798 44,044,217
49,815,925 232,755 -
7,116,146 - -
- 1,399,247 96,528
$ 56,932,071 $ 1,632,002 96,528
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Econemic Total
Development Drainage Component
Corporation District Units

3 334,902 $ 659,393 $ 5,481,963

- - 1,800,000

- - 733,918
536,705 - 536,705
- 650,253 650,253

1,007 - 1,007

- - 1,778,068

- - 1,126,717

- - 125,504

- - 2.917.265
872,614 1,309,646 15,151,398
- - 1,916,226

- - 41,000,000

- - 13,838,865

- 591,449 41,701,264

-0- 691,449 98,456,355
872,614 2,001,095 113,607,753
- 26,807 416,877

- - 90,567

- - 285,566

- - 1,976,010

- - 4,000

- 3,098 742,315

- - 63,223

- 222,667 2,759,478

-0- 252,572 6,338,036

- 280,000 280,000

- - 419,790

- 15,000 45,583,189

-0- 295,000 46,282,979

-0- 547,572 52,621,015

- 453,782 50,502,462

- - 7,116,146
872614 999,741 3,368,130

3 872,614 $ 1453523 $ 60,986,738
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Program Revenues Net {(Expense)
Operating Capital Revenues and
Charges for Grants and Grants and Changes in
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Net Assets
Road Commission $ 9,509,760 5 250,456 3 7,458,449 $ 3,094,251 3 1,293,396
District Public Health 5,976,937 1,598,763 3,497,896 - {880,278)
Department of Public Works 2,031,386 - 2,009,555 - (21,831)
Economic Development Corporation 210,134 209,000 - - (1,134)
Drainage District 404,862 - - 383,095 {21,767)
TOTALS 5 18,133,079 3 2,058,219 $ 12,865,900 5 3,477,346 368,386
General revenues
Property taxes 1,673,318
Cigaretle tax 50,573
Hotel liquor tax 137,853
County appropriations 643,479
Investment earnings 124,636
Gain on eguipment disposal 120,354
Miscellaneous 16,096
Total general revenues 2,766,309
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 3,134,695
Net assets, beginning of year 57,852,043
Net assets, end of year $ 60,986,738

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The County of Van Buren, Michigan, was incorporated in 1829 and covers an area of approximately 1,090
square miles in southwest lower Michigan. The County seat is located in the Village of Paw Paw. The County
operates under an elected Board of Commissioners {7 members) with an appointed County administrater who
assists with day-to-day operations. The Couniy of Van Buren provides services to its more than 76,200
residents in many areas including law enforcement, administration of justice, community enrichment and
development, and human services.

The financial statements of the County have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP} as applied to County governments. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB} is the accepted standarg-sefting body for establishing governmental
accounting and financial reporting principles. The County's more significant accounting policies are described
below.

1. Financial Reporting Entity

As reguired by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; GASB Statement No. 14,
The Financial Reporting Enlity (as amended by GASB Statement No. 39}, and Statement on Michigan
Governmental Accounting and Auditing No. 5, these financial statements present the financial activities of Van
Buren County {primary government) and its component units. The component units described in Sections 2 and 3
below should be included in the County's reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or
financial relationship with the County. Blended compenent units, although legally separate entities, are in
substance part of the County’s operations, so data from these units are combined with data of the primary
government. Discretely presented component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that they are legally separate from the County.

The Van Buren County Road Commission activities are reported on the fiscal year-end of December 31, 2006.
The Waorkforce Development Board fund is reported on the fiscal year-end of June 30, 2007.

2. Blended Component Units

The Van Buren County Building Authority is governed by a five (5) member Board appointed by the Van Buren
County Board of Commissioners. Although legally separate from the County, the Van Buren County Building
Authority is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to finance and
construct the County’s public buildings. The financial statements of the Van Buren County Building Authority
funds have been consolidated with the County's related Debt Service and Capital Project Funds.

The Van Buren County Transit (Public Transit Fund) was incorporated in the State of Michigan, under the
provisions of Public Act 327 of 1931, as amended, and Public Act 284 of 1972, as amended. The Transit
Corporation is not legally separate, but is administered by a 5 member board appointed by the majority of the
seated County board members present and voting. The Transit Board may not issue debt and a fax levy is
subject to County Board of Commissioner's approval. This component unit is also audited individually.
Complete financial statements are issued under separate cover and may be obtained from its administrative
office.

3. Discretely Presented Component Lnits

These component units are reported in a separate column to emphasize that, while legally separate, Van Buren
County remains financially accountable for these entities, or the nature and significance of the relationship
between these entities and Van Buren County is such that exclusion of these entities would render the financial
statements misleading or incomplete.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

3. Discretely Presented Component Units - continued

The Van Buren County Road Commission, which is established pursuant to the County Road Law (MCL. 224.1),
is governed by a three (3} member board of county road commissioners appointed by the County Board of
Commissioners. The Road Commission may not issue debt without the County's approval and the tax levy is
subject to County Board of Commissioners' approval. The Road Commission taxes are levied under the taxing
authority of the County, as approved by the County electors, and would be included as part of the County's total
tax levy as well as reported in the County Road Fund as a special revenue fund. This component unit is audited
individually and the financial statements may be obtained from the administrative office of the Road Commission.

The Van Buren/Cass County District Public Health Department is classified as 2 joint venture between Van
Buren and Cass Counties and was established to provide public health services. The details related to this joint
venture agreement are disclosed below. This component unit is audited individually and the financial
statements may be obtained from the administrative office of the Public Health Department.

The Van Buren County Drainage District, which is established pursuant to the Drain Code of 1956, has the
responsibility to administer the State Drain Code. The Drain Commissioner is responsible for planning,
developing, and maintaining surface water drainage systems within the county. The Drain Commissioner may
issue debt or levy a tax as authorized by the Drain Code without the approval of the County Board of
Commissioners.

The Van Buren County Department of Public Works was established by the County Board of Commissioners
pursuant to MCL 123.732. The County of Van Buren entered into a program of water supply and sanitary sewer
facility construction. The Department of Public Works is under the general control of the County Board of
Commissioners and under the immediate control of the Van Buren County Road Commission. The Department
of Public Works is considered an agency of the County. The board manages water supply and sanitary sewer
system construction projects that are bonded by the County of Van Buren. Bonds issued are authorized by an
ordinance or a resolution approved by the Board of Public Works and adopted by the Van Buren County Board
of Commissioners.

The Van Buren County Economic Development Carporation (EDC), which was established pursuant to the
provisions of Public Act 338 of 1974, as amended, is governed by a nine (8} person board of directors appointed
by the County Board of Commissioners. The EDC may not issue debt without the County's approval.

4. Joint Ventures

The County participates in the following aclivities, which are considered to be joint ventures in relation to the
County due to the formation of an organization by contractual agreement between two (2) or more participants that
maintain joint control, financial interest, and financial responsibility.

Van Buren/Cass County District Public Health Department - The County is 2 member of the Van Buren/Cass
County District Public Health Department, which is a joint venture between Van Buren and Cass Counties and
was established to provide public health services. The District Health Board has representation from and
provides services to Van Buren and Cass Counties. The District Public Health Department is considered a
component unit of the County because it is legally separate and financially accountable to the County. Each
County provides annual appropriations and passes through the statutory amounts of cigarette and hotel liquor
tax funding to subsidize operations. The current funding formula approved by the District Health Beard requires
Van Buren and Cass Counties to provide 60 and 40 percent, respectively. The financial operations of the District
Health Department are recorded in the records of the County of Van Buren.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

5. Basis of Presentation

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities {the government-wide statements) present information
for the primary government and its component units as a whole. All non-fiduciary activities of the primary
government are included {i.e., fiduciary fund activities are not included in the government-wide statements). For
the most part, interfund activity has been eliminated in the preparation of these statements. Governmental
activities, which normally are supporied by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The statement of activities presents the direct functional expenses of the primary government and its component
units and the program revenues that support them. Direct expenses are specifically associated with a service,
program, or department and are therefaore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues are
associated with specific functions and include charges to recipients of goods or services and grants and
contributions that are restricted 1o meeting the operational or capital requirements of that function. Reverwes that
are not required to be presented as program revenues are general revenues. This includes all taxes, interest, and
unrestricted State revenue sharing payments and other general revenues and shows how governmental functions
are either self-financing or supported by general revenues.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fund financial statements present the County’s individual major funds and aggregated nonmajor funds.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The major funds of the County are:

a. The General Fund is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general
government except for those that are required to be accounted for in another fund.

b. The Housing Program Income Fund is used {o account for financial resources generated through the housing
fund to assist low to moderate income homeaowners in the County to make needed repairs to their homes.

c. The Workforce Development Fund accounts for the administration of the grants received by the subrecipients,
Berrien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce Board.

d. The Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund accounts for recording of the operating millage to be levied in the
summer.

e. The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund accounts for money either advanced by a county or by the issuance of
general obligation limited tax notes, to pay other taxing units and various county funds for their delinquent
taxes prior the 2005 tax year.

f. The 2006 Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund accounts for money either advanced by the County or by the
issuance of general obligation limited tax notes, to pay other taxing units and various County funds for their
delinquent taxes for the 2006 tax year.

g. The Delinquent Tax Forfeiture Fund accounts for property forfeitures and related receivables.



Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

5. Basis of Presentation - continued

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

Additionally, the County reports an internal service fund to account for the management of fringe benefits provided
to various departments of the County on cost reimbursement basis.

The County also reports agency funds to account for assets held by the County as an agent for other
governments, private organizations, or individuals. Agency funds are, by nature, custodial; therefore, operation
results are not measured. The County's agency funds are the Trust and Agency Fund and the Payroll Imprest
Fund.

6. Measurement Focus

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are presented using the economic resources
measurement focus, similar to that used by business enterprises or not-for-profit organizations. Because another
measurement focus is used in the governmental fund financial staternents, reconciliations to the government-wide
statements are provided that explain the differences in detail.

All governmental funds are presented using the current financial resources measurement focus. With this
measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet.
Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases
{i.e., expenditures and other financing uses} in net current assets.

There is no measurement focus for fiduciary funds since assets equal liabilities.

7. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures/expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measuremenis made
regardless of the measurement focus applied.

All governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual (when they become both “measurable™ and
"available to finance expenditures cof the current period”). The length on time used for “available” for purposes of
revenue recognition in the governmental fund financial statements is 60 days. Revenues that are considered
measurable but not available are recorded as receivable and deferred revenue. Significant revenues susceptible
to accrual are property taxes, special assessments, and certain intergovernmental revenues. Expenditures are
generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund liability is incurred,
except for interest on long-term debt which is recorded when due.

All proprietary funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Their revenues are recognized when
they are earned, and their expenses are recognized when they are incurred.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued to December 1, 1989, generally are followed
in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not
conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the
option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds,
subject to this same limitation. The County has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION CF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCCUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

7. Basis of Accounting - continued

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Enterprise Funds are
charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the costs of sales
and services, administrative expenses, and other costs of running the activity. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reporied as non-operating revenues and expenses. Iffiwhen both restricted and
unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County's policy to use restricted resources first, then
unrestricted resources as they are needed.

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The County pools cash resources of various funds in order to facilitate the management of cash. Cash applicable
to a particular fund is readily identifiable. The balances in the pooled cash accounts are available to meet current
operating requirements. Cash in excess of current requirements is invested in various interest bearing securities
and disclosed as part of the County's invesiments. Cash equivalents consist of temporary investments in
certificates of deposit, money markets, and U.S. Government securities with an original maturity of 90 days or less.
Earnings from deposits are allocated to numerous funds as required by Federal regulations, State statutes, and
local ordinances.

9. Investments

Investments consist of commercial paper with an criginal maturity of over 90 days. Investments are reported at fair
value.

10. Receivables

Receivables consist of amounts due from governmental units for various financial assistance programs and
accounts receivable related to charges for services.

11. Inventories

DISTRICT PUBLIC HEALTH

Inventories are stated at cost on a first inffirst out basis. Inventories consist of operating supplies and vaccines
received from the State of Michigan. Vaccine inventory on hand at year-end have been reported as deferred
revenue. Inventory amounts not reported as deferred revenue are equally offset by a fund balance reserve,
which indicates that they do not constitute "available spendable resources” even though they are a component
of net current assets,

ROAD COMMISSION

Inventories are priced at cost as determined on the average cost method. Inventory items are charged to road
construction and equipment maintenance, and repairs and operations as used.

PUBLIC TRANSIT

Inventory consists of diesel fuel and is valued at cost using the first-inffirst-out (FIFO) method.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

12. Deferred Revenue

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered
to be available to liquidate liabilities of the cumrent period or for resources that have been received, but not yet
earned.

13. Capital Assets

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT (EXCEPT PUBLIC TRANSITY AND COMPONENT UNITS (EXCEPT ROAD
COMMISSION AND DISTRICT PUBLIC HEALTH)

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.q., roads, bridges, sidewalks,
and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the
government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial
individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at
estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Buildings and structures 15 - 50 years
Equipment 3- 25 years
Vehicles 4 - 15 years
Infrastructure 20 -100 years

PUBLIC TRANSIT - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, are reporied in the proprietary fund financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of mare than
$1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of three years. Such assels are recorded at historical cost or
estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value
at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets
lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred
during the construction phase of capital assets, if any, is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
constructed. No such interest expense was incurred during the current fiscal year.

Capital assets of the government are depreciated using the straightline method over the following estimated
useful lives:

Buildings and land improvements 10 - 20 years
Buses 5 years
Qther vehicles 4 - S years
Furniture and equipment 4- 10 years
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

13. Capital Assets - continued

ROAD COMMISSION - COMPONENT UNIT

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges and similar
items), are reported in the Operating Fund in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by Van Buren County Road Commission as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $1,000 and
an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at historical costs or estimated historical
cost of purchase or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of
donation.

Depreciation is computed on the sum-of-the-years'-digits method for road equipment and straightline method for
all other capital assets. The depreciation rates are designed to amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30 - 50 years
Road Equipment 5-8years
Shop Equipment 10 years
Engineering Equipment 4 -10 years
Infrastructure - Roads 8 - 30 years
Infrastructure - Bridges 12 - 50 years

DISTRICT PUBLIC HEALTH - COMPONENT UNIT

Capital assets include equipment and building improvements and are recorded (net of accumulated depreciation, if
applicable) in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are those with an initial individual cost of
$5,000 or more, with estimated useful lives of more than one year. Capital assets are not recorded in the
governmental fund. Instead, capital acquisitions are reflected as expenditures in the governmental fund, and the
related assets are reported in the government-wide financial statements. All purchased capital assets are valued
at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated historical cost where no historical records exist.
Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated fair market value on the date received.

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Equipment 4 - 20 years
Building Improvements 27 years

The Department has no assets that would be classified as infrastructure assets.

14. Long-Term Obligations

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are recognized as a liability in the government-wide financial
statements and proprietary fund types when incurred. The portion of those liabilities expected to be paid within the
next year is a current liability with the remaining amounts shown as long-term.

Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due or when resources have been
accumulated in a Debt Service Fund for payment early in the following year. For other long-term obligations, only
that portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial resources is reported as a fund liability of
a governmential fund.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

15. Advances to Other Funds/Governmental Units

Long-term advances from the primary government to other funds or component units are made to finance new
activities during their initial operations and to finance capital acquisitions. The applicable fund balance is reserved
in the fund financial statements for such advances to reflect the amount of fund balance not currently available for
expenditure.

16. Accrued Compensated Absences

Amounts of vested or accumulated vacation leave are accrued in the government-wide and proprietary financial
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example,
as a result of employee resignations and retirements. No liability is recorded for nenvesting accumulating rights to
receive sick pay benefits. However, a liability is recognized for that portion of accumulating sick leave benefits that
it is estimated will be taken as "termination leave” prior to retirement,

17. Interfund Transactions

During the course of normal operations, the County has numerous transactions between funds, including
expenditures and transfers of rescurces to provide services, construct assets, and service debt. The
accompanying financial statements generally reflect such transactions as transfers. Transfers between
governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the reconciliation to the government-wide financial
statements.

The Internal Service Fund (Fringe Benefits) records charges for services provided to various County departments
and funds as operating revenue. All County funds record these payments as operating expendituresfexpenses.

18. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with the modified accrual basis used to reflect actual results in the fund
firancial statements. This basis is consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for all required governmental fund types. The County
employs the following procedures in establishing budgets:

a. Prior to May 31, the County departments, in conjunction with the Administrator's office, prepare and submit
their proposed operating budgets for the fiscal year commencing the following October 1. The operating
budgets include proposed expenditures and resources to finance them.

b. A Public Hearing is held to obtain taxpayers' comments after due notice was published in a newspaper of
general circulation.

¢. Prior to September 30, the budgets are legally enacted through passage of an annual budget resolution,

d. The budgets are legally adopted at the fund level for the General Fund and the Special Revenue funds. For
control purposes, all fund budgets are maintained at the activity and account level.

e. The County Board of Commissicners monitors and amends the budgets as necessary.

f. The County does not employ encumbrance accounting as an extension of formal budgetary integration in the
governmental funds. All unexpended appropriations lapse at year-end.

g. Budgeted amounts are reported as originally adopted or as amended by the Board of Commissioners during
the year. Individual amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations that were adopted.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

NOTE A: DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES - CONTINUED

19. Federal Programs

Federal Programs are accounted for in the funds to which the programs pertain. The County has not integrated its
Single Audit Reports and financial data as part of the financial statements. The Single Audit reports and financial
data will be issued under separate cover as supplementary information to the financia! statements.

20. Comparative Data

Comparative data for the prior year has not been presented in the accompanying financial statements since the
inclusion of comparative data would make the statements unduly compiex and difficult fo read.

NOTE B: POOLING OF CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The County utilizes pooled cash accounts for approximately seventy-eight (78) funds. The County’s pocled cash
accounts consist of a common checking, savings, certificates of deposit, and money market accounts. The
County's balance sheet reflects cash and investments with a negative balance. These amounts do not represent
actual bank overdrafts; rather, they merely reflect that specific funds have disbursed amounts from the County’s
common cash accounts in excess of the amount recorded as an asset. In total, the bank account has a positive
balance.

Cash disbursed in excess of amounts recorded as assets as of September 30, 2007, are as follows:

Negative Nonpooled
Pooled Cash and Financial
Fund Cash Cash Equivalents Statements
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Special Revenue Funds
Homeland Security $( 27736) % - $ 27736)
Remonumentation { 58910) - ( 58910)
Substance Abuse { 3,635 ) - { 3,635 )
Enterprise Funds
2006 Delinquent Tax Revolving { 431951 ) - _{431951)
TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT ( 522232) -0- ( 522,232)
COMPONENT UNITS
Board of Public Works
Lawton Wastewater ( 13,950) - ( 13,950)
Paw Paw Water #2 { 46965 ) - { 469865 )
TOTAL COMPONENT UNITS { 60915) -0- { 60915}
TOTAL REPORTING ENTITY $( 583147 § -0- $( 583,147 )
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE C: CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS

The County's pooled cash accounts and investments are utilized by the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds,
Capital Project Funds, Debt Service Funds, Enterprise Funds, Internal Services Funds, Trust and Agency Funds,
and the Component Unit funds. Each fund's portion of these pooled accounts is included in the cash and cash
equivalents caption on the applicable balance sheet or statement of net assets.

The other funds of the County utilize separate savings and interest bearing checking accounts.

In accordance with Michigan Compiled Laws, the County is authorized to invest in the following investment
vehicles:

a. Bonds and other direct obligations of the United States or an agency or instrumentality of the United States.

b. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts, or depository receipts of a State or nationally
chartered bank or a State or Federally chartered savings and loan association, savings bank, or credit union
whose deposits are insured by an agency of the United States government and which maintains a principal
office or branch office located in this State under the laws of this State or the United States, but only if the
bank, savings and loan association, savings bank or credit union is eligible to be a depository of surplus funds
belonging to the State under Section & of 1855 PA 105, MCL 21.146.

c. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the three (3) highest classifications established by not
less than two (2) standard rating services and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of
purchase.

d. United States government or Federal agency cbligation repurchase agreements.
e. Bankers acceptances of United States banks.

f.  Mutual funds composed of investment vehicles which are legal for direct investment by local units of
government in Michigan.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) regulations provide that deposits of governmental units are to be
separately insured for the amount of $100,000 for deposits in an insured bank for savings deposits and $100,000
for demand deposits. Furthermore, if specific deposits are regulated by statute or bond indenture, these specific
deposits are to be separately insured for the amount of $100,000. Michigan Compiled Laws allow for
collateralization of government deposits if the assets for pledging are acceptable to the State Treasurer under
Section 3 of 1855 PA 105, MCL 21.143, to secure deposits of State surplus funds, securities issued by the Federal
Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal National Mortgage Association, or Government National Mortgage
Assaciation.

As of September 30, 2007, the carrying amounts and bank balance for each type of bank account are as follows:

ACCOUNT TYPE Carrving Amount Bank Balance
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Checking $ 8,775,906 $ 7,637,261
Savings accounts 6,101,317 6,968,549
Certificates of deposit 90,116 90,116
Total primary government 14,967,339 14,695,926
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NOTE C: CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED

ACCOUNT TYPE - CONTINUED Carrying Amount Bank Balance

COMPONENT UNITS
Checking 3 7,368,168 $ 7,867,617
Savings 1,973 1,590
Certificates of deposit 20,856 20,856
Total component units 7,390,997 7,890,063
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Savings 7,175,254 7.175.254
TOTAL REPORTING ENTITY $29,533,590 $29,744,105

Deposits of the County are at federally insured banks located in the State of Michigan with all accounts maintained
in the name of the County. As of September 30, 2007, the primary government and component unit accounts
were insured by the FDIC or FSLIC for $916,837 and the amount of $28,827,268 was uninsured and
uncollateralized.

Due to significantly higher cash flow at certain periods during the year, the amount the County held as cash and
cash equivalents increased significantly. As a result, the amount of uninsured and uncollateralized cash and cash
equivalents were substantially higher at these peak periods than at year-end.

As of September 30, 2007 the carrying amounts and market values for each investment are as follows:

Moody's/ Weighted
Carmrying Market S&P Average
INVESTMENT TYPE Amount Value Rating Maturity
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Uncategorized pooled investments
MBIA - Michigan Class $ 869537 § 869,537 N/A 48 days
Federal Home Loan Mortgage 198,882 198,882 Aaa 85 days
Fifth Third Institutional Government Money Market 352,628 352,628 AAAM N/A
G.E. Capital Corp. Commercial Paper 254,730 254,730 Aaa 5 days
UBS Financial (DE} LLC 258,881 258,881 Aaa 108 days
TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT $ 1934658 § 1,934,658

Credit Risk

State law limits investments in certain types of investments to a prime or better rating issued by nationally
recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSRO's}). As of September 30, 2007, rating information on the
County's invesiments is presented above.

Interest Rate Risk

The County will minimize interest rate risk, which is the risk that the market value of secuiities in the portfolio will
{all due to changes in market interest rates, by designing its portiolio with the objective of obtaining a rate of return
through the budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the investment risk constraints and the cash flow
characteristics of the portfolio.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE C: CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED

Concentration of Credit Risk

The County will minimize a concentration of credit risk, which is the risk of ioss attributed to the magnitude of the
County's investment in a single issuer, by diversifying the investment portfolio so that the impact of potential [osses
from any one type of security or issuer will be minimized.

The cash and cash equivalents and investments referred to above have been reported in either the cash and cash
equivalents or investments captions on the combined balance sheet based upon criteria disclosed in Note A. The
following summarizes the categorization of these amounts as of September 30, 2007:

Primary Companent Fiduciary Reporting
Government Units Funds Entity
Cash and cash equivalents $16,436372 § 5481963 § 7,175254  $29,093,589
Investments 513,611 - - 513,611
Restricted cash - 1,916,226 - 1,916,226
$16,949.983 § 7,398,189 § 7.175254  $31.523.426

The primary government cash and cash equivalents captions on the financial statements include $47,986 in
imprest cash. The component unit cash and cash equivalents captions include $7,192 of imprest cash.

NOTE D: ADVANCES RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE

The following schedule details advances receivable and payable related to the primary government at September
30, 2007:

Advance from General Fund to:

Nonmajor governmental funds $ 5,000
Internal service funds 10,000
$ 15000

Advance from Delinquent Tax Forfeitures fund to:
Other nonmajor business-type funds 82317

NOTE E: INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Permanent reallocation of resources between funds of the reporting entity is classified as interfund transfers. For
the purpose of the statement of activities, all interfund transfers between individual governmental funds, business-
type funds, and component unit funds have been eliminated.

Transfer to General Fund from:

Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund $ 1,200,000
Transfer to nonmajor governmental funds from:

General Fund $ 5,006,686

Nonmajor governmental funds 24,062

$ 5,030,748
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September 30, 2007

NOTE F: CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2007 was as follows:

Primary Government

Balance Balance
Oct. 1, 2006 Additions Deletions Sept. 30, 2007
Governmental activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 15690706 § - % - $ 1,590,706
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 162,104 - - 162,104
Buildings 18,362,725 21,480 - 18,384,205
Equipment 3,455,483 384,665 - 3,840,148
Subtotal 21,980,312 406,145 -0- 22,386,457
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements ( 69,021 ) { 9,140 ) - { 78,161 )
Buildings ( 9,549,543 ) { 440,017 ) - { 9,989,560 )
Equipment ( 2404758 ) _{ 290,400 ) - { 2695158 )
Subtotal ( 12023322 ) _¢ 739,557 ) -0- ( 12,762,879 )
Net capital assets being depreciated 9956990 _{ 333412 ) -0- 9,623,578
Capital assets, net $ 11547696 3 333412) §$ -0- $_11,214.284
Depreciation expense was charged to the following governmental activities:
General government 3 198,500
Public safety 321,045
Health and welfare 215,337
Recreation and cultural 4675
Total depreciation expense $___ 739557
Balance Balance
Oct. 1, 2006 Additions Deletions Sept. 30, 2007
Business-type activities -
Public Transit
Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements $ 82229 % - % - 8 82,229
Buildings 569,976 14,828 - 584,804
Buses 969,911 - - 969,911
Vehicles 43,656 - - 43,656
Furniture and equipment 85,365 9873 - 05,238
Subtotal 1,751,137 24,701 -0- 1,775,838
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NOTE F: CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

Primary Government - continued

Balance Balance
Oct. 1, 2006 Additions Deletions Sept. 30, 2007
Business-type activities -
Public Transit - continued
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Land improvements $( 9,000 } % 1,500} % - ¥ 10,500 )

Buildings ( 460250 ) ( 27973 ) - { 488,223 )

Buses ( 639338 ) ({ 139,164 ) - { 778,502 )

Vehicles ( 42359 ) { 1,297 ) - { 43,656 )

Furniture and equipment { 549809 ) _{ 7,165 ) - { 62,074 )

Subtotal ( 1205856 ) _{ 177,099 ) -0- { 1382955
Capital assets, net $ 545281 §( 152398) § 0- % 302,883
Component Units
Component Unit - Drainage District

Capital assets being depreciated
Infrastructure $ 1,12813%¢ % 81012 § -5 1,219,151
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Infrastructure { 469021 ) _{ 58,681 ) - { 527,702 )
Capital assets, net g 659118 § 32331 % -0- § 691,449
Compenent Unit - District Public Health |

Capital assets being depreciated

Building improvements $ 50,000 & - % - 8 50,000

Equipment 202 494 198.694 - 491,188

Subtotal 342,494 198,694 -0- 541,188

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Building improvements { 14,044 ) 1,851 ) - ( 15,895 )

Equipment (254903 ) _{ 37635 ) - (292538 )

Subtotal ( 268047 ) _{ 39,486 ) - { 308,433 )
Capital assets, net $ 73547 § 159,208 3 -0- § 232,755
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September 30, 2007

NOTE F: CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

Component Units - continued

Component Unit - Read Commission
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land and improvements
Construction in progress
Infrastructure right of ways
Infrastructure land improvements

Subtotal

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Road equipment
Shop equipment
Office equipment
Engineers' equipment
Yard and Storage
Depletable assets
Infrastructure - Traffic signals
Infrastructure - Bridges
Infrastructure - Roads

Subtotal

Accumulated depreciation and depletion
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Road equipment
Shop equipment
Office equipment
Engineers' equipment
Yard and Storage
Depletable assets
Infrastructure - Traffic signals
Infrastructure - Bridges
Infrastructure - Roads

Subtotal
Net capital assets being depreciated

Capital assets, net

Balance Balance
Jan. 1, 2008 Additions Deletions Dec. 31, 2006
$ 68,269 $ - % - 3 68,269
- 2883774 - 2,883,774
24,429 - - 24 429
9.981.120 881273 - 10,862 393
10,073,818 3,765,047 -0- 13,838,865
93,694 418,454 - 512,148
1,968,764 2,798 { 24520 ) 1,947,042
8,170,765 425,701 { 460,413 ) 8,136,053
93,171 11,320 { 2,514 ) 101,977
90,368 9,855 { 11,837 ) 88,386
93,231 876 { 33711 ) 90,736
182,595 - - 182,595
234,078 - - 234,078
134,629 - - 134,629
7,620,545 260,093 { 3,001 ) 7,877,637
50,654,482 3775180 { 1.989198) 52,440,464
69,336,322 4,904 277 ( 2,484,854 ) 71,745,745
{ 18,160 ) ( 5,101 ) - { 23,261 )
{ 645,077 ) { 61,784 ) 24,512 ( 682,349 )
( 6021830 ) ( 658,912 ) 432,177 {( 6,248615)
( 72041 ) | 5,515 ) 2,514 ( 75,042 )
{ 66,235 ) { 9,642 ) 11,836 ( 64,041 )
{ 73,267 ) ( 8,217 ) 3,371 { 78,113 )
{ 82952 ) ( 13,077 ) - { 96,029 )
{ 149,774 } { 886 ) - { 150,660 )
( 70,191 ) 8,875 ) - { 79,166 )
( 2466960 ) ( 144,573 ) 3,001 { 2608532)
( 19910111 ) _{ 2941964 ) 1,989,198 { 20,862,877 )
_{ 29576648 ) _{ 3858646 ) 2,466 .609 { 30,968,685 )
39,759,674 1.045,631 { 28,245 ) 40.777.060
$ 49633492 § 4810678 H{__ 28245) $ 54,615925
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NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt {including current portion} of the County for the year
ended September 30, 2007;

Amounts
Batance Balance Due Within
Oct. 1, 2006  Additions Deletions Sept. 30, 2007 One Year
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Governmental Activities
19889 Building Authority Bonds $ 385000 $ - % - $ 385000 % -
1997A Building Authority
Refunding Bonds 325,000 - ( 160,000) 165,000 165,000
19978 Building Authority
Refunding Bonds 1,265,000 - ( 295000) 970,000 310,000
1997C Building Authority
Refunding Bonds 635,000 - ( 95000) 540,000 95,000
2000 Building Authority
Bonds - Jail 890,000 - ( 205000) 685,000 215,000
2000 Installment Purchase
- 911 System 300,000 - ( 300000) -0- -
Campensated absences 763,587 434055 _( 112775)_ 1,084 877 272,196
4,563,597 434,065 (1,167,775) 3,829,877 1,057,196
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Fund

2005 Delinquent tax notes 4,980,000 - (4,800,000) 180,000 180,000
2006 Delinquent tax notes - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 -
Compensated absences - Transit 12,396 26813 _( 27273) 11,936 -

4,992,396 3026813 _(4,827,273)_ 3,191,936 180,000

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 9,655,993 3,460,868 (5,995,048) 7,021,813 1,237,196

COMPONENT UNITS
Department of Public Works

1986 Sanitary Sewer Bonds 265,000 - { 15,000) 250,000 15,000
2001 Water Supply System -

Refunding Bonds 795,000 - { 110,000} 685,000 110,000
1997 Water Supply System - Covert 300,000 - { 300,000} -0- -
1998 Sewerage Disposal and
Water Supply Bonds 5,635,000 - { 150,000) 5,485,000 150,000
1998 MMBA Revoelving Loan Fund 1,330,000 - { 90,000) 1,240,000 90,000
1998 MMBA Drinking Water Program 560,000 - { 45000) 515,000 40,000
2004 Refunding Water Sys. Treatment

{Casco/South Haven) Bonds 5,485,000 - { 180,000) 5,305,000 175,000
1999 Water Supply and Sewage

Disposal 355,000 - ( 15,000) 340,000 15,000
2000 Casco/South Haven Sewage

Disposal and Water Supply Bonds 9,155,000 - ( 400000) 8,755,000 400,000
2000 Village of Paw Paw Sewage

Disposat System No. 6 Bonds 635,000 - ( 30000) 605,000 35,000
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NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within
Oct. 1,2006  Additions Deletions Sept. 30, 2007 _One Year

COMPONENT UNITS - CONTINUED
Department of Public Works - continued
2001 Sister Lakes Area Sewage

Disposal Bonds $ 8,750,000 % - §( 625000)% 8,125,000 % 625,000

2002 Covert Water Supply

System Bonds 4,775,000 - { 100,000) 4,675,000 325,000

2003 Covert Water Supply

System Bonds 7,400,000 - ( 75000) 7,325,000 325,000
Brainage Districts

North Phoenix Bonds 290,000 - { 145000) 145,000 145,000

Intercounty Drain Notes 65,000 - [ 65000) -0- -

Graham Drain Note 12,000 S 6,000) 6,000 6,000

Territorial Drain Note 45,000 - ( 15,000) 30,000 15,000

Dowagiac Drain Note 56,667 - - 56,667 56,667
District Public Health Depariment

Compensated absences 187,968 28478 ( 5704) 210,742 63,223
Road Commission

Capital lease 28,776 - ( 28778) -0- -

Installment purchase agreements - 4,800,000 - 4,800,000 231,811

Compensated absences 265,386 6.885 - 272,271 -

TOTAL COMPONENT UNITS 46,390,797 4,835,363 (2400480 )_48,825,680 2822 701

TOTAL REPORTING ENTITY $55.946.790 § 8.296.231 $(8.395528 ) 365,847,493 § 4,059,897

Significant details regarding outstanding long-term debt (including current portions) are presented below:
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

County Building Authority Bonds

Bonds payable at September 30, 2007 are as follows:

$2,200,000 Van Buren County Building Authority Series 1989 Bonds, dated November
1, 1989, due in annual installments ranging from $0 to $200,000 through November 1,
2009, with interest of 5.00 percent, payable semi-znnually, % 385,000

$1,390,000 Van Buren County Building Authority Series 1997A Refunding Bonds,
dated October 1, 1997, due in a final installment of $165,000 on November 1, 2007,
with interest of 4.65 percent, payable semi-annually. 165,000

$3,000,000 Van Buren County Building Authority Series 1997B Refunding Bonds,
dated Octaber i, 1997, due in annual installments ranging from $310,000 to $340,000
through December 1, 2008, with interest ranging from 4.65 to 4.85 percent, payable
semi-annually. 970,000
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NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT - CONTINUED

County Building Authority Bonds - continued

$1,220,000 Van Buren County Building Authority Series 1997C Refunding Bonds,
dated October 1, 19987, due in annual installments ranging from $95,000 to $120,000
through June 1, 2012, with interest ranging from 4.75 to 5.05 percent, payable semi-
annually. $ 540,000

$1,935,000 Van Buren County Building Authority Series 2000 Bonds, dated November
1, 2000, due in annual installments ranging from $215,000 to $240,000 through June 1,
2010, with interest ranging from 4.60 to 4.70 percent, payable semi-annually. 685,000

§ 2,745,000
Delinguent Tax Notes

Notes payable on September 30, 2007 are as follows:

$5,980,000 Van Buren County General Obligation Limited Tax Notes, Series 2006,
dated June 8, 2006, due on March 1, 2008 with interest of 5.33 percent far purchase of
2005 delinquent taxes. $ 180,000

$3,000,000 Van Buren County General Obligation Limited Tax Notes, Series 2007,
dated June 27, 2007, due on March 1, 2010 with various interest rates for purchase of
2006 delinquent taxes. 3.000,000

$.3,180.000
Compensated Absences - Primary Government {Except Public Transit)

in accordance with County personnel pelicies andfor contracts negotiated with various employee groups of the
County, individual employees have vested rights upon termination of employment to receive payment for unused
vacation and sick leave under formulas and conditions specified in their respective personnel policies andfor
contracts. The dollar amount of these vested rights, including related payroll taxes, amounted to $1,084,877 for
vacation and sick, at September 30, 2007. Of this amount, $272,196 has been recarded as a current lizbility and
$812,681 has been recorded as a noncurrent liability.

Compensated Absences - Public Transit

Transit employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts. In the event of termination, an
employee is paid for certain portions of unused accumulated vacation and sick time. This amount has been
recorded as the long-term liability.

Advance Refunding - Prior

On October 1, 1997 the County defeased the portion of the 1989 Building Authority Bonds, which were due and
payable November 1, 1998 through November 1, 2007. This was accomplished by establishing an irrevocable
trust with an escrow agent composed of cash and U.S. Government Securities sufficient to meet the applicable
principal and interest payments. The County issued Building Authority Refunding Bonds, Series 1997A in the
amount of $1,390,000 to provide resources to fund the escrow amounts and pay the costs of issuance of the
refunding bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in
the Counly’s financial statements. At September 30, 2007, bonds due and payable November 1, 2007 for the
1989 Building Autherity Bonds in the amount of $170,000 are considered defeased.

-38-



Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT - CONTINUED

Advance Refunding - Prior - continued

On October 1, 1997 the County defeased the portion of the 1990 Building Authority Bonds, which were due and
payable December 1, 1999 through December 1, 2009. This was accomplished by establishing an irrevocable
trust with an escrow agent composed of cash and U.S. Government Securities sufficient to meet the applicable
principal and interest payments. The County issued Building Authority Refunding Bonds, Series 19978 in the
amount of $3,000,000 to provide resources to fund the escrow amounts and pay the costs of issuance of the
refunding bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in
the County's financial statements. At September 30, 2007, bonds due and payable December 1, 2007 through
December 1, 2009, for the 1990 Building Authority Bonds in the amount of $980,000 are considered defeased.

On October 1, 1997 the County defeased the portion of the 1992 Building Authority Bonds, which were due and
payable June 1, 2000 through June 1, 2012. This was accomplished by establishing an irrevocable trust with an
escrow agent composed of cash and U.S. Government Securities sufficient to meet the applicable principal and
interest payments. The County issued Building Authority Refunding Bonds, Series 1997C in the amount of
$1,220,000 to provide resources to fund the escrow amounts and pay the costs of issuance of the refunding
bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in the County's
financial statements. At September 30, 2007, bends due and payable June 1, 2008 through June 1, 2012, for the
1992 Building Authority Bonds in the amount of $545,000 are considered defeased.

COMPONENT UNIT - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
Bonds payable at September 30, 2007 are as follows:

$495,000 Van Buren County Sanitary Sewage Disposal System No. 6 Bonds, dated
1986, due in annual instaliments ranging from $15,000 to $20,000 through January 1,
2020, with interest of 5.00 percent, payable semi-annualiy. $ 250,000

$1,195,000 Van Buren County 2001 Water Supply System No. 1 Refunding Bonds,
Village of Paw Paw, dated November 1, 2001, due in annual installments ranging from
$105,000 to $125,000 through November 1, 2012, with interest ranging from 4.05 to
4.55 percent, payable semi-annually. 685,000

$6,335,000 Van Buren County 1998 Sewage Disposal and Water Supply Bonds, dated
May 1, 1998, due in annua! installments ranging from $150,000 to $600,000 through
May 1, 2019, with interest ranging from 4.25 to 6.25 percent, payable semi-annually. 5,485,000

$1,900,000 Van Buren County 1998 MMBA Revolving Loan Fund, dated June 25,
1998, due in annual installments ranging from $90,000 to $115,000 through April 1,
2019, with interest of 2.25 percent, payable semi-annually. 1,240,000

$827,340 Van Buren County 1985 MMBA Drinking Water Program, dated September
29, 1998, due in annual installments ranging from $40,000 to $50,000 through October
1, 2018, with interest of 2.50 percent, payable semi-annually. 515,000

$5,575,000 van Buren County 2004 Refunding (Casco/South Haven) Bonds, dated
November 18, 2004, due in annual installments ranging from $175,000 to $500,000
through May 1, 2020, with interest ranging from 3.00 to 5.00 percent, payable semi-
annually. 5,305,000
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NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

COMPONENT UNIT - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - CONTINUED

$425,000 Van Buren County 1999 Water Supply and Sewage Disposal System {City of
Hartford) Bonds, dated Navember 1, 1929, due in annual installments ranging from
$15,000 to $30,000 through November 1, 2020, with interest ranging from 5.00 to 5.30
percent, payable semi-annually. § 340,000

$10,390,000 Van Buren County 2000 Sewage Disposal and Water Supply
(Casco/South Haven) Bonds, dated July 1, 2000, due in annual installments ranging
from $400,000 to $1,250,000 through May 1, 2021, with interest ranging from 5.00 {o
7.00 percent, payable semi-annually. 8,755,000

$750,000 Van Buren County Sewage Disposal System No. 6 (Village of Paw Paw)
Bonds, dated January 1, 2001, due in annual installments ranging from $35,000 to
$75,000 through April 1, 2019, with interest ranging from 4.50 to 5.25 percent, payable
semi-annually. 605,000

$11,625,000 Van Buren County Sister Lakes Area Sewage Disposal Bonds, dated May
1, 2001, due in annual installments of $625,000 through May 1, 2020, with interest
ranging from 4.15 to 5.00 percent, payable semi-annually. 8,125,000

$5,000,000 Van Buren County 2002 Water Supply System Bonds (Covert}, dated May
1, 2002, due in annual installments ranging from $325,000 to $350,000 through June 1,
2021, with interest ranging from 3.75 to 4.75 percent, payable semi-annually. 4,675,000

$7,500,000 Van Buren County 2003 Water Supply System Bonds {Covert), dated
February 1, 2003, due in annual installments ranging from $325,000 to $750,000

through June 1, 2024, with interest ranging from 4.000 to 4.375 percent, payable semi-
annually. ’ 7,325,000

$43,305.000

Advance Refunding - Prior

On November 1, 2001 the County defeased the portion of the 1991 Water Supply System No. 1 Bonds which were
due and payable November 1, 2002 through November 1, 2012. This was accomplished by establishing an
imevocable trust with an escrow agent composed of cash and U.S. Government Securities sufficient to meet the
applicable principal and interest payments. The County issued 2001 Water Supply System No. 1 Refunding
Bonds in the amount of $1,195,000 to provide resources to fund the escrow amounts and pay the costs of
issuance of the refunding bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are
not included in the County's financial statements. At September 30, 2007, bonds due and payable Novernber 1,
2007 through November 1, 2012 for the 1991 Water Supply System No. 1 Bonds in the amount of $675,000 are
considered defeased.

On November 18, 2004 the County defeased the portion of the 1999 Sewage Disposal and Water Supply Bonds
{Casco/South Haven) which were due and payable May 1, 2007 through May 1, 2020. This was accomgplished by
establishing an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent composed of cash and U.S. Government Securities
sufficient to meet the applicable principal and interest payments. The County issued 2004 Refunding Bonds in the
amount of $5,575,000 to provide resources to fund the escrow amounts and pay the costs of issuance of the
refunding bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in
the County's financial statements. At September 30, 2007, bonds due and payable May 1, 2008 through May 1,
2020 in the amount of $5,230,000 are considered defeased.
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NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

COMPONENT UNIT - DRAINAGE DISTRICT
Bonds payable at September 30, 2007 are as follows:

$725,000 Van Buren County 2003 North Phoenix Drain Bonds, dated June 1, 2003,
due in a final installment of $145,000 on June 1, 2008, with interest of 2.35 percent,

payable semi-annually. $ 145,000

Drain notes payable at September 30, 2007 are as follows:

$18,000 Van Buren County Graham Drainage District Note, dated November 30, 2004,
due in a final installment of $6,000 on June 15, 2008, with interest of 3.67 percent,
payable annually. $ 6,000

$60,000 Van Buren County Territorial Road Drainage District Note, dated April 15,
2005, due in annual installments of $15,000 through June 15, 2008, with interest of
3.13 percent, payable annually. 30,000

$85,000 Van Buren County Dowagiac River Inter-County Drainage District Note, dated
June 1, 2005, due in a final installment of $56,667 on June 15, 2008, with interest of

2.50 percent, payable annually. The payment due June 15, 2007 was not made during
the fiscal year. 56,667

$ 092,667
COMPONENT UNIT - DISTRICT PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Compensated Absences

Employees of the Van Buren/Cass County District Public Health Department are granted vacation and sick
leave in varying amounts based on length of service. Upon termination of employment, employees are paid
accumulated vacation at full current rate of pay to a maximum of 25 days, and accumulated sick leave at a rate
of 50% of hours accumulated up to a maxirnurmn of 750 hours {375 hours payable).

Accumulated vacation leave and sick pay represent a liability to the Depariment which is presented as both a
current and long-term liability in the government-wide financial statements. Payments to employees for
vacation leave and sick pay are recorded as expenditures when they are used and payments are actually made
to the employees.

At September 30, 2007, vacation and sick pay including related payroll taxes amounted to $210,742; $63,223 of
which has been classified as a current liability.

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION

Installment Purchase Agreement

A new garage was purchased under a 15 year installment lease purchase agreement
through LaSalle Bank. The criginal purchase price was $4,800,000, with 15 annual
payments of $445,411 at an implied interest rate of 4.45%. $ 4,800,000
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September 30, 2007

NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

COMPONENT UNIT - RCAD COMMISSION - CONTINUED

Compensated Absences

Vacation is earned in varying amounts depending on the number of vears of service of an employee and is made
available o employees on their anniversary dates. Vacation pay at 100% is payable to the employee when
employment is severed. At December 31, 20086, there was $107,359 recorded as vacation liability.

Union employees - Sick leave is accumulated at the rate of 4 hours per pay period for union employees, not to
exceed 760 hours or 95 days. Upon retirement or death of an employee, the employee or his estate shall receive
an amount equal to 50% of the sick leave credits at the hourly rate he was paid on the last day worked.

Nonunion employees - Sick leave is earned at a rate of 6 hours per month to a maximum of 54 days. Days in
excess of the maximum will be paid off at a rate of 50% annually. Upon retirement or death of an employee with
less than 15 years of service, the employee or his estate shall receive an amount equal to 50% of the employee's
unused sick leave credits at the rate paid on the last day worked. For emplovees with 15 or more years of service,
the employee or his estate shall receive an amount equal to §0% of the employee’s unused sick leave credits at
the rate paid on the last day worked te a maximum of 584 days.

At December 31, 2006, there was a total of $164,912 recorded as sick leave liability for both the union and
nonunion employees.

The annual requirements to pay the debt principal and interest outstanding for the following Bonds, Notes, and
Leases are as follows:

Primary Government Component Units
Road Commission
Year Ending Direct County Obligations Installment Leases
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest
2008 $ 785000 $ 120,522 $ 231811 § 213,600
2009 835,000 82,850 242127 203,284
2010 890,000 41,835 252,902 192,510
2011 115,000 11,810 264,156 181,256
2012 120,000 6,060 275,011 169,501
2013-2017 - - 1,575,022 652,035
2018-2022 - - 1,958,071 268,983
2023-2024 - s - - -
$ 2745000 § 263077 $ 4.800000 $ 1,881,169
Component Units
Department of Public Drainage District
Year Ending Works Bonds Bonds and Notes
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2008 $ 2,305,000 $ 1,946,184 $ 222667 % 6,695
2009 2,390,000 1,719,937 15,000 469
2010 2,495,000 1,736,641 - -
2011 2,590,000 1,624,588 - -
2012 3,000,000 1,513,636 - -
2013-2017 15,635,000 5,553,846 - -
2018-2022 13,390,000 1,839,980 - -
2023-2024 1,500,000 98.247 - -

$43,305000 $16.033.0569 § 237667 $§ 7,164
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE G: LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

Qutstanding principal and interest on the 2005 and 2006 Delinguent Tax Notes have been excluded from the
schedules above because the periodic principal maturities are not specific other than the final due date and/or the
interest is variable and calculated through the date of payment.

NOTE H: EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT AND COMPONENT UNITS (EXCEPT ROAD COMMISSION)

Plan Description

The County participates in the Michigan Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS), an agent mulliple
employer public employee retirement system. MERS is authorized and operated under State law, Act 135 of
Public Acts of 1945, as amended. The Michigan Municipal Employees Retirement System issues a publicly
available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the system.
That report may be cbtained by writing to the System at 1134 Municipal Way, Lansing, Michigan 48917. All full-
time and regular part-time County employees are covered by the retirement system with the exception of the Road
Commission employees. The Road Commission employees are covered under a separate retirement plan.

Funding Policy

All groups contribute 3% of the first $4,200 of annual compensation and 5% of portions over $4,200, The
County is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund the system.

Annual Pension Cost

For the year ended September 30, 2007 the County's annual pension cost of $594,137 for the plan was equal to
the County's required contribution. The estimated annual required contribution was determined as part of an
actuarial valuation at December 31, 2005 using the enfry actual age cost method. Actual required contributions
are based on actual reported monthly payroll. Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the pension
benefit obligation include (1} a rate of return on the investment of present and fulure assets of 8.0%, (2) projected
salary increases of 4.5% per year compounded annually, atlributable to inflation, {3} additional projected salary
increases ranging from 0.0% fo 8.4% per year, depending on age, attributable to seniority/merit. The employer
contribution rate has been determined based on the entry age normal funding methed. Under the entry age
normal cost funding methed, the total employer contribution is comprised of the normal cost plus the level annual
percentage of payroll payment required to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over 30 years, The
employer normal cost is, for each employee, the level percentage of payroll contribution {from entry age to
retirement) required to accumulate sufficient assets at the member’s retirement to pay for his or her projected
benefit.

Schedule of Funding Progress
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2008
Actuarial value of assets $ 4386534 § 9,154,263  $10,663,072
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) (entry age) 7,940,619 15,806,227 17,397,677
Unfunded AAL 3,554,085 6,751,964 6,734,605
Funded ratio 55% 58% 61%
Covered payroll 4,316,903 7,888,875 7,885,157
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 82% 86% 85%
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NOTE H: EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS - CONTINUED

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT AND COMPONENT UNITS (EXCEPT ROAD COMMISSION} - CONTINUED

Schedule of Emplover Contributions

Year Ended December 31,
September 30, 2005 2006 2007
Annual pension cost $ 282807 $ 1172257 $ 594137

Percentage of APC contributed 100% 100% 100%
Net pension obligation - - -

This trend information was obtained from the most recently issued actuarial reports.

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION

Plan Description

The Van Buren County Road Commission pension plan is a single employer-defined benefit plan administered
through Fifth Third Bank. The information disclosed, as of December 31, 2006, is based on information provided
by Fifth Third Bank. The Van Buren County Road Commission plan had 53 active participants, 44 retirees and 6
terminated but vested employees as of January 1, 2007, the most recent period for which actuarial data was
available. The plan administrator, Fifth Third Bank, did not issue a separate report for the year 2006,

The system provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries in
accordance with the Road Commission labor agreements and personnel policies. The Road Commissioners have
the authority to establish or amend the retirement benefits, which are agreed upon through laber negatiations and
are included in the labor agreements and personnel policies.

Funding Policy

The Road Commission has the policy to contribute the actuarially determined amount yearly. Fifth Third Bank
separately identifies and reports on the contributions and earnings in a "Defined Benefit Pension Plan Account.”
During 2006, contributions were invested in money market investments, mutual fund investments.

Contributions

Each employee becoming eligible to participate in the plan is required to contribute a percentage of their
compensation equal to 4% or 5% for nonunion and union, respectively, in accordance with the labor agreements
and personnel policies. The Road Commission makes contributions in accordance with the minimum
recommended employer contribution required by the actuary plan, During the plan year ended December 31,
2006, the Road Commission contributions totaled $216,079.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Plan Asset Matters

The assets of the pension plan consist of money market investments and mutual funds purchased under the
control of Fifth Third Bank (Trustee). The trustee currently provides moenthly “statement highlights™ providing a
summary of balances, which provides the income and expense data accounting for the monthly changes in the
Group Annuity Contract value for the General Account only. These statements provided for the audit report are
effective through December 31 each year. All contributions under this plan will be paid by the employer to the
trustee and deposited in the trust. Contributions will be made at such times as the employer will determine in
accordance with a funding policy and funding standard account established by the employer. All assets of the trust
will be retained for the exclusive benefit of participants and beneficiaries and to pay benefits and administrative
expenses of the plan and trust. The trustee is entitle to reasonable compensation for all services rendered as
trustee. The trustee will be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred by i, including counsel and auditing
fees.
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NOTE H: EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS - CONTINUED

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION - CONTINUED

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial UAAL as
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded a Percent
Valuation Value Liability AAL Percent  Covered of Covered
Date of Assets {AAL) UAAL Funded Payroll Payroll
2006 $ 4959886 § 5822513 §{ 862627 85 % $ 1,996,522 43 %
2005 4,564,620 5,585,088 {1,020,468) 82 1,899,515 54
2004 4,316,363 5435019 ( 1,118,656) 79 2,001,070 56

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Annual
Year Required Actual Percentage
Ended Contribution Contribution Contributed
2006 $ 216,079 % 216,079 100 %
2005 214,497 214,497 100
2004 223,81t 223,811 100

The information presented above was determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated.
Additional information as of January 1, 2007, the latest actuarial valuation, follow:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal Caost Method
Amortization Method 15 years beginning January 1, 2002
Remaining Amortization Period 10 years
Asset Valuation Method Adjusted Market Value
Acluarial Assumptions

Investment Rate of Return 7%

Projected Salary Increases 4%

NOTE I: POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

In addition to providing pension benefits, Van Buren County has elected to provide post-employment health
benefits to retirees of the County. The Van Buren County Board of Commissioners established the plan and may
amend it and the related contribution requirements, subject to the Counly's various collective bargaining
agreements. The County also pays the full cost of coverage for these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. Also,
retirees can purchase coverage for their dependants at the County's group rates. Currently, 10 retirees are
eligible for post-employment heaith benefits. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, the County made
payments for the post-employment health benefit premiums of $87,756. The County obtains health coverage
through private insurers.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE |I: POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONTINUED

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION

The Road Commission provides post-employment health and dental care benefits, in accordance with labor
contracts and personnel policy, to all employees who retire under the provisions of the Van Buren County Road
Commission Pension Plan or completing 15 years of service; after having attained age 62 or more, the Road
Commission will pay set premiums as listed below or 100% (depending on the plan) of the premium or
subscription rate for the continuance of the hospital and surgical coverage for the employee and his/her then
eligible spouse. The Road Commission will also continue to pay set premiums as listed below or 100%
{depending on the plan} of the premium or subscription rate for the health insurance for widows of employees who
have had 15 or more years of service with the Road Commission or widows of employees who are killed on the
job. Currently, 36 retirees met those eligibility requirements. Expenditures for post-employment health care
benefits are recognized when insurance premiums are paid. Premiums paid by the Road Commission in 2006
totaled $235,380 less $33,105 reimbursed by retirees for a net total cost of $202,275.

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION
As of January 1, 2006, the Road Commission will begin paying the following maximum contributions toward
health, dental and vision insurance premiums:

Single Up to $429/month
Two-Person Up to $984/month
Family Up to $1,132/month

NOTE J: JUDGMENT PAYAEBLE

In October 2006, Van Buren County settled a lawsuit with a former employee of the Drain Commissioner's office
for $325,000. The setllement will be paid in installments of $39,069 for the former employee and $15,097 for his
attorney. The installments are due on May 1 and November 1 until May 1, 2009. As of September 30, 2007, the
amount payable was $216,667.

NOTE K: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The County participates in a number of Federal and State assisted grant programs which are subject to
compliance audits. The Single Audit of the Federal Programs and the periodic program compliance audits of many
of the State programs have not yet been completed or final resolution has not been received. Accordingly, the
County's compliance with applicable grant requirements will be established at some future date. The amount, if
any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time although
the County expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

NOTE L: FEDERAL GRANTS

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Workforce Development Board

The Bemien-Cass-Van Buren Private Industry Council, Inc. was organized in 1983 as a private, nonprofit
corporation to administer Federal and State employment and training funds in Berrien, Cass, and Van Buren
Counties. During 1996, the Berrien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce Development Board, Inc. doing business as
Michigan Works Berrien-Cass-Van Buren, was formed under the direction of a newly created board of directors.
On May 1, 1996, the Workforce Development Board assumed responsibility for all contracts and grants previously
administered by the Private Industry Council, and the Private Industry Council ceased to exist.



Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2007

NOTE L: FEDERAL GRANTS - CONTINUED

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT - CONTINUED

Workforce Development Board - continued

Van Buren County acts as the grant recipient of most of the job training funds received from the State of Michigan.
Van Buren County has contracted the Berrien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce Development Board, Inc. to serve as
the administrative entity, which involves administration of the day to day operations of the employment and training
programs. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, $8,491,324 was received by Van Buren County and
turned over to the Bemien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce Development Board, Inc. The Berrien-Cass-Van Buren
Workforce Development Board, Inc. is audited separately with a single audit also being performed on the funds
received. Further information in regards to the audit can be obtained by contacting the Berrien-Cass-Van Buren
Workforce Develepment Board, Inc., Benton Harbor, Michigan.

COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION

The Michigan Department of Transportation {MDOT) requires that road commissions report all Federal and State
grants pertaining to their county. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Federal aid received and
expended by the Road Commission was $633,368 for contracted projects and $0 for negotiated projects.
Contracted projects are defined as projects performed by private contractors paid for and administrated by MDOT.
The contracted Federal projects are not subject to single audit requirements by the road commissions, as they are
included in MDOT’s single audit. Negotiated projects are defined as projects performed by Road Commission
employees or private contractors paid for and administered by the Road Cammission.

NOTE M: RISK MANAGEMENT

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT AND COMPONENT UNITS (EXCEPT ROAD COMMISSION)

The County participates in a pool, the Michigan Municipal League Liability and Property Pool, with other
municipalities for property, liability, bonding, and casualty losses. The pocl is organized under Public Act 138 of
1982, as amended as a governmental group property and casualty self insurance pool. In the event the pool's
claims and expenses for a policy year exceed the total normal annual premiums for said years, all members of the
specific pool's policy year may be subject to special assessment to make up the deficiency. The County has not
been informed of any special assessments being required.

The County also participates in a pool, the Michigan Municipal League Workers Compensation Fund, with other
municipalities for worker's compensation losses. The pool is organized under Public Act 317 of 1969, as
amended. In the event the pool's claims and expenses for a policy year exceed the total normal annual
premiums for said years, all members of the specific pool's policy year may be subject to special assessment to
make up the deficiency. The County has not been informed of any special assessments being required.

COMPONENT UNIT - RGAD COMMISSION

The county road commissions in the State of Michigan established and created a trust fund, known as the
Michigan County Road Commission Self-Insurance Pool (Pocl) pursuant to the provisions of Public Act 138 of
1982. The Pool is to provide for joint and cooperative action relative to members’ financial and administrative
resources for the purpose of providing risk management services along with property and liability protection.
Membership is restricted to road commissions and related rcad commission activities with the State.
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NOTE M: RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED
COMPONENT UNIT - ROAD COMMISSION - CONTINUED

The Pool operates as a common risk-sharing management program for road commissions in Michigan; member
premiums are used to purchase excess insurance coverage and to pay member claims in excess of deductible
amounts. If for any reason the Pool's resources available to pay losses are depleted, the payment of all unpaid
losses of the member is the sole obligation of the member.

The Road Commission pays an annual premium to the Pool for automobile and equipment liability, trunkline
liability, errors and omissions ang bodily injury, property damage and personal injury liability. The Road
Commission premium during 2006 was $289,918. The agreement for the information of the Pool provides that the
Pool will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will purchase both specific and aggregate stop-loss
insurance to the limits determined necessary by the Pool Board. Commercial insurance was purchased for
property coverage (buildings and contents). Commercial insurance was also purchased for health care benefits
and woarkers compensation insurance throtugh the Accident Fund of Michigan.

At December 31, 20086, there were no claims which exceeded insurance coverage. The Road Commission did not

have any significant reduction in insurance coverage from previous years. Seitled claims for the Road
Commission have not exceeded the amount of insurance coverage in any of the past 3 years.

NOTE N: PROPERTY TAXES AND TAX RECEIVABLE

The County property tax is levied each December 1 and July 1 on the taxable valuation of property located in the
County as of the preceding December 31,

Beginning with the 2004 tax levy the State has mandated the creation of a Revenue Sharing Reserve fund into
which one-third of the County’s 2004 to 2006 ad valorerm operating tax was recognized. The purpose of the fund is
to accumulate reserves of the County's own local funds from which an amount similar to Revenue Sharing
payments, formerly made by the State, will be made back to the General Fund. As part of this process, the
County's tax levy has shifted over the past three years from winter to summer.

The County's Winter 2006 and Summer 2007 ad valorem taxes were levied and collectible on December 1, 2006
and July 1, 2007, respectively. It is the County's policy to recognize revenues from the tax levy in the year when
the proceeds of the levy are budgeted and made available for the financing of County operations. As a result, the
County’'s Winter 2006 and Summer 2007 tax levies have been recognized as revenue in the current fiscal year.
The 2006 and 2007 taxable value of Van Buren County amounted to $2,348,590,581 and $2,523,299,220,
respectively, on which ad valorem taxes levied for County general operating purposes consisted of 1.5019 mills for
Winter 2006 and 4.4908 mills for Summer 2007. Van Buren County has levied .9475 milis for ambulance
operations, .5392 mills for public safety, .2500 mills for public transit, and .9802 mills for roads.

By resolution of the Board of Commissioners and agreement with various taxing authorities, the County purchased
at face value the real property taxes receivable returned delinquent on March 1, 2007. Subsequent collections of
definquent taxes receivable, plus interest thereon and investment earnings, are used to repay the funds distributed
by the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund. This activity is accounted for in the Delinquent Tax (Enterprise) Funds.
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NOTE O: FUND BALANCE RESERVES

Reserved fund balance is used to earmark a portion of fund balance to indicate that it is not appropriate for
expenditure or has been legally segregated for a specific future use. These reserves are recorded at the fund level
to indicate management plans for these funds.

The following are the various fund balance reserves as of September 30, 2007:

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
General Fund
Reserved for advances $ 285000
Nonmajer governmental funds
Reserved for capital projecis 61,857

$ 356,857

NOTE P: RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Restrictions of net assets shown in the government-wide financial statements indicate that restrictions imposed by
the funding source or some other outside source preciudes their use for unrestricted purposes. The following are
the various net asset restrictions as of September 30, 2007:

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Governmental Activities
Public Safety

Sheriff's exira voted millage $ 467,374
60% Justice Training 16,734
911 Wireless 140,475
Drug enforcement Federal 7414
Drug enforcement State 34,134
Drug enforcement Prosecuting Attorney 80.185

3__756.316

Other purposes

Kal - Haven Trail $ 24,632
Ambulance millage 577,329
Social welfare 221,963
Family counseling 41,866
Child care 465,932
Soldiers' and sailors’ relief 152
Veterans' trust 1,434
Revenue sharing reserve 4,692,974

$ 6.026,282

Capital improvement

811 System 36,791
Building authority jail 25,106

$ 61,857
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NOTE P: RESTRICTED NET ASSETS - CONTINUED
COMPONENT UNITS

Road Commission
Restricted for county roads $ 7,116,146

NOTE Q: EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

In the required supplementary information to the financial statements, the County's budgeted expenditures in the
General Fund and major Special Revenue Funds have been shown at the functional classification level. The
approved budgets of the County have been adopted at the tolal expenditure level for the General Fund and the
Special Revenue Funds.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the County incured expenditures in the Special Revenue Fund in
excess of the amounts appropriated as follows:

Amounts Amounts
Apprapriated Expended Variance
Housing Program Income Fund 3 5,000 $ 50,531 $ 45531
Kal-Haven Trail Fund 63,000 77,781 14,781
Ambulance Millage Fund 2,076,634 2,296,000 219,366
Friend of the Court - Bench Warrant Fund - 8,501 8,501
Court Equity 49,000 64,882 15,882
Jail Enhancement Fund 8,396 33,475 25,079
60% Justice Training Fund 7,800 13,231 5,431
Dispatch Training Fund 6,800 7,733 933
Planning Commission 4,500 6,476 1,976
Homeland Security Grant 2005 Fund 107,973 229,155 121,182
2006 Homeland Security Regional Grant Fund - 693,545 693,545
Register of Deeds Automation Fund 85,000 96,318 11,318
Remonumentation Fund 176,502 194,825 18,323
Drug Enforcement Federal Fund 35,884 54,588 18,694
Drug Enforcement Prosecuting Attorney Fund 1,000 19,417 18,417
Law Library Fund 25,000 26,291 1,291
Victim Advocates Fund 200 2,412 2,212
Sheriff Drain Work Crew Fund - 19,755 19,755
Sex Offender Registration Fund 100 150 50
Corrections Training Fund 22,000 56,827 34,827
Land Preservation Fund - 240,000 240,000
Courthouse Restoration Fund 1,000 1,650 650
Social Welfare Fund 420,000 774,196 354,196
Soldiers' and Sailors’ Relief Fund 1,000 2,400 1,400
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Van Buren County, Michigan

General Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with

-51-

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual {(Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes
Current and delinquent property taxes $10,497,062 § 10,497,062 §$ 11,154,852 § 657,790
Payments in lieu of taxes 3,500 3,500 7,865 4,365
Mobile home park taxes 9,000 9,000 6,936 (2,064)
Industrial and commercial facility tax 1,900 1,900 1,327 (573)
Interest and penalties 5.000 5.000 31,334 26,334
Total taxes 10,516,462 10,516,462 11,202,314 685,852
Licenses and permits
Gun permits 6,000 6,000 5,801 (199)
Dog licenses 122,150 122,150 98,620 {23,530)
Marriage license fees 3,000 3,000 3,015 15
Total licenses and permits 131,150 131,150 107,436 (23,714)
Intergovernmental
Federal/State
Ernergency management 30,000 30,000 24,746 (5,254)
Cooperative reimbursement program 900,968 900,968 830,629 {70,339)
IV-D incentive 134,802 134,902 172,018 37,116
Judges standardization 229,379 229,379 228,620 (759)
Juvenile Officer’s salary 53,000 53,000 52,776 (224)
Probate court judge 100,242 100,242 102,116 1,873
Jury fees 7,500 7,500 10,138 2,638
District court case flow assistance 33,750 33,750 31,204 {2,546)
Remonumentation 37,500 37,500 30,000 {7,500)
Treasurer court financing 530,000 530,000 493,985 (36,015)
Sheriff secondary road patrol 120,000 120,000 143,106 23,106
Cigarette tax 46,776 46,776 45,041 {1,735)
Marine safety 27,000 27,000 39,493 12,493
Snowmobile grant 12,561 12,561 9,360 (3,201)
Summer enforcement grant - - 22,981 22,981
Convention and tourism tax 268,940 268,940 275,705 6,765
Liquor license fees 5,500 5,500 4136 (1,364)
Other 10,000 10,000 3,892 {6,108)
Local 702,807 702,807 648,277 (54,530)
Total intergovernmental 3,280,825 3,250,825 3,168,222 (82,603)



Van Buren County, Michigan
General Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
REVENUES - CONTINUED
Charges for services
Family Court 3 77,300 % 77,300 % 84732 § 7.432
District Court 1,073,000 1,073,000 1,008,055 (64,945)
Circuit Court 133,000 133,000 135,326 2,326
Friend of the Court 65,157 65,157 83,797 18,640
Probate Court 31,400 31,400 44,362 12,962
County Treasurer 32,000 32,000 36,515 4,515
County Clerk 199,000 199,000 240,554 41,554
Administrative fee 12,000 12,000 12,000 -0-
Election fees 36,600 36,600 45,433 8,833
Equalization services 36,175 35,175 28,822 (6,353)
Prosecuting attorney services - - 466 466
Register of Deeds 744,000 744,000 905,426 161,426
Land management fees 138,075 138,075 142,672 4,597
Drain Commissioner services 32,000 32,000 52,909 20,909
Marshall services 136,500 136,500 175,302 38,802
Sheriff department services 113,050 113,050 154,733 41,683
Animal shelter services 6,250 6,250 3,395 {2,855)
Medical examiner services 500 500 851 351
Other sales 18,900 18,900 22,833 3,933
Other charges for services 500 500 4,350 3.850
Total charges for services 2,884,407 2,884,407 3,182,533 298,126
Fines and forfeits
Bond forfeitures 40,000 40,000 43,970 3,970
QOrdinance fines and costs 95,000 95,000 142,396 47,396
Total fines and forfeits 135,000 135,000 186,366 51,366
Interest and rents
Interest on investments 150,250 150,250 417,511 267,261
Rents 821,102 821,102 820,905 (187}
Total interest and rents 971,352 971,352 1,238,416 267,064
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Van Buren County, Michigan
General Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
REVENUES - CONTINUED
Other
Reimbursements and refunds $ 43,300 § 43,300 $ 67780 $ 24,480
Insurance recoveries and refunds 28,000 28,000 41,131 13,131
Contributions 750 750 1,837 1,087
911 Central Dispatch 255,304 255,304 - (255,304)
Mental Health 40,000 40,000 - {40,000)
Other 50 50 703 653
Total other 367,404 367,404 111,451 (255,953)
TOTAL REVENUES 18,256,600 18,256,600 19,196,738 940,138
OTHER FINANCING SOQURCES
Transfers from other funds
Revenue sharing reserve 1,220,000 1,220,000 1,200,000 {20,000)
TOTAL REVENUES AND

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES $ 19,476,600 § 19,476,600 § 20,396,738 $ 920,138
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Van Buren County, Michigan
General Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES BY ACTIVITY

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
EXPENDITURES
General govemment
Board of Commissioners $ 185135 % 196,135 § 190231 § 5,904
Gun Board 975 975 828 147
Professional services 152,750 278,750 149,969 128,781
Circuit Court 548,986 578,886 571,649 7.337
Family Court 1,151,820 1,201,820 1,175,271 26,549
District Court 1,533,075 1,533,075 1,519,542 13,533
Jury board 5,500 5,500 4,952 548
Probate Court 360,857 364,067 380,775 13,292
State probation 7,450 8,450 8,358 92
County Administrator 233,927 243,427 241,689 1,738
Elections 64,250 64,250 55,409 8,841
Clerk 433,995 433,995 425717 8,278
Equalization 320,843 320,843 305,608 15,235
Prosecuting Attorney 693,166 713,166 704,495 8,671
Register of Deeds 197,941 197,941 192,995 4,946
Land information services 221,019 223,019 219,921 3,098
Treasurer 271,290 271,290 257,463 13,827
Cooperative extension 197,245 197,245 196,318 927
Computer department 269,894 330,894 319,973 10,921
Building and grounds 1,083,287 1,372,693 1,329,532 43,061
Drain commissioner 158,391 179,101 178,848 253
General services 259,000 260,000 260,925 (925)
Total general govemnment 8,350,796 8,975,522 8,660,468 315,054
Public safety

Sheriff 274,415 279,415 278,885 530
Sheriff Road Patrol 1,155,039 1,176,039 1,164,357 11,682
Secondary Road Patrol 155,869 155,869 153,626 2,243
Marine safety 72,534 72,534 48,446 24,088
Snowmobile grant 16,749 16,749 10,232 6,517
Summer enforcement grant - - 22,982 {22,982)
Keeler Township 83,030 104,030 101,081 2,949
South Haven Township 165,079 165,079 135,503 29,576
Geneva Township 87,258 87,258 77,014 10,244
Schaool liaison 61,305 61,305 58,476 2,829
Village of Gobles 77.846 77,846 69,883 7,963
Antwerp Township 19,347 20,347 19,760 587
Columbia Township 83,725 83,725 77,766 5,959
Village of Decatur 10,115 10,115 9,299 816
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General Fund

Van Buren County, Michigan

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES BY ACTIVITY - CONTINUED

EXPENDITURES - CONTINUED

Public safety - continued
Hamilton Township
Village of Lawrence
Village of Bloomingdale
Jail
U.S. Marshall grant
Alternative work program
Food service
Plat Board
Emergency services
Animal control

Total public safety

Public works
Drains
Public works

Totaf public works

Health and welfare
Health department
Memtal health depariment
Contagious diseases
Medical examiner
Human services
Veterans burials

Total health and welfare

Other
Insurance and bonds
Unemployment
Sheriff's retiree's

Total other
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers out
Sheriff's Extra Voted Millage
Friend of the Court
Court Equity
Central Dispatch

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
QOriginal Final Actual (Negative)
$ 9913 § 10,413 § 9,800 $ 613
95,408 95,408 76,732 18,676
9,017 9,017 7.316 1,701
1,412,713 1,412,713 1,284,520 128,193
137,705 137,705 130,758 6,946
64,696 64,696 59,972 4,724
267,500 267,500 239,579 27,921
300 300 - 300
92,052 92,052 85,594 6,458
256,006 256,006 223,950 32,066
4,607,621 4,656,121 4,345,532 310,589
40,000 40,000 - 40,000
8,000 8,000 6,625 1,375
48,000 48,000 6,625 41,375
576,102 614,347 615,077 (730)
270,000 270,000 270,000 -0-
15,700 15,700 14,482 1,218
129,588 129,588 113,131 16,457
23,215 23,215 23,215 -0-
114,000 12,400 12,385 15
1,025,605 1,065,250 1,048,220 16,980
165,000 174,000 173,906 94
30,500 30,500 - 30,500
62.675 62,675 62,675 -0-
258,175 267,175 236,581 30,594
14,280,197 15,012,068 14,297,496 714,572
- 13,275 13,275 -0-
1,332,550 1,332,550 1,332,550 -0-
68,000 68,000 68,000 -0-
546,578 546,578 546,578 -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan

General Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES BY ACTIVITY - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

OTHER FINANCING USES - CONTINUED
Transfers out - continued
Planning Commission
Remonumentation
Courthouse Security
Law Library
Child Care
Soldiers' and Sailors' Relief
Building Authority 1990 DSS Building 19978
Building Authority 1989 HSE Building 1997A
Building Autharity 1991 HSW Building 1997C
Building Authority Jail
911 System

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING USES

TOTAL EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Qriginal Final Actual (Negative)
£ 4500 § 6,500 % 6,500 % -0-
15,000 15,000 15,000 -0-
89,795 89,795 71,846 17,949
15,000 18,450 19,666 {1,2186)
1,824,185 1,704,185 1,704,185 -0-
2,500 2,500 2,500 -0-
348,041 348,041 348,041 -0-
191,012 191,012 191,012 -0-
126,315 126,315 126,315 -0-
253,194 253,194 246,443 6,751
306,198 314,775 314,775 -0-
5,122,868 5,030,170 5,006,686 23,484
$19.413,065 $20,042,238 §19,304,182 § 738,056
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Housing Program Income Fund
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDLULE

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
REVENUES
Intergovernmental - Federal/State $ 5000 §% 5000 § 74,338 § 69,339
EXPENDITURES
Current
Community and economic development 5,000 5,000 50,531 {45,531)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -0- -0- 23,808 23,808
Fund balance, beginning of year 6,718 6,718 6,718 -0-
Fund balance, end of year $ 6,718 3§ 6718 % 30,526 % 23,808
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Workforce Development Board Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Year Ended September 30, 2007

REVENUES
Intergovernmental - Federal/State

EXPENDITURES
Current
Community and economic development
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end of year

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
$ 9,000,000 $ 9,000,000 $8491324 § (508,676)
8,000,000 9,000,000 8,491,324 508.676
-0- -0- -0- -0-
- - - -0-
$ -0- 5 0- & -0- % -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Paositive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ 3,100,000 $ 3,100,000 $ 3,080,715 $ (39,285)
EXPENDITURES - - - -0-
EXCESS OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 3,100,000 3,100,000 3,060,715 (39,285)
OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers out (1,200,000) _ (1.200,000) {1,200,000) -0-
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1,900,000 1,800,000 1,860,715 {39,285)
Fund balance, beginning of year 2,832,259 2,832,259 2,832,259 -0-
Fund balance, end of year $4732,259 §$4,732259 $4,602974 § (39,285)
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

September 30, 2007

Special
Sheriff's Extra Kal-Haven Ambulance
Voted Millage Trail Millage
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 527,117 & 24632 § 577,329
Accounts receivable 9,091 - -
Due from other governmental units
State - - -
Local - - _
TOTAL ASSETS % 536,208 % 24,632 $ 577,329
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 29,821 $ - 3 -
Accrued liabilities 39,013 - -
Advance from other funds - - -
Deferred revenue - - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 68,834 -0- -0-
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Capital projects - - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds 467,374 24, 632 577,329
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 467,374 24,632 577,329
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES $ 536,208 $ 24,632 3 577,329
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Revenue

Friend of
the Court -
Friend of Court Bench Jail Collection 60% Justice
the Court Equity Warrant Enhancement Agency Training

$ 136,276 3 3,536 $ 12,361 $ 5,428 $ 72,581 % 10,668
1,543 - - - - -
- - - - - 6,066
$ 137,819 % 3,536 $ 12,361 $ 5,428 $ 72,581 $ 16,734
$ 13,005 $ - $ 8,501 $ - $ - $ -
36,036 - - 344 4,141 -
49,131 -0- 8,501 344 4,141 -0-
88,688 3,036 3,860 5,084 68,440 16,734
88,688 3,536 3.860 5,084 68,440 16,734
$ 137,819 $ 3,536 $ 12,361 $ 5,428 $ 72,581 $ 16,734
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - CONTINUED

September 30, 2007

Special
Central Dispatch 911
Dispatch Training Wireless
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 132,851 % 4,175 08,318
Accounts receivable - - -
BDue from other governmental units
State - - 43,719
Local - - -
TOTAL ASSETS 3 132,851 § 4,175 142,037
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 2772 $ - -
Accrued liabilities 20,968 - 1,562
Advance from other funds - - -
Deferred revenue - - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,740 -0- 1,562
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Capital projects - - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds 109,111 4,175 140,475
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 109,111 4,175 140,475
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES 3 132,851 3 4,175 142,037
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Revenue

Local Homeland 2006
Emergency Security Homeland Human
Planning Planning Grant Public Security Services
Commission Committee 2005 Improvement Regional Grant West
3 572 % 5 % 1,828 % 27§ {27,736) 27,234
- 2,600 - - 332,950 -
$ 572 % 2658 % 1028 & 27 % 305,214 27,234
5 548 § - % 1927 $ - § 304,791 10,490
- - - - 423 -
548 -0- 1,827 -0- 305,214 10,480
24 2,658 1 27 - 16,744
24 2,658 1 27 -0- 16,744
3 572 % 2658 & 1,928 % 27 3 305,214 27,234

-63 -



Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - CONTINUED

September 30, 2007

Special
Register
of Deeds Disaster
Automation Contingency _Remonumentation
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 363,566 § 5000 § (58,910}
Accounts receivable - - -
Due from other governmental units
State - - 40,992
Local - - 30,000
TOTAL ASSETS & 363,566 % 5000 % 12,082
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES :
Accounts payable 3 - % - $ -
Accrued liabilities - - -
Advance from other funds - 5,000 -
Deferred revenue - - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES -0- 5,000 -0-
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Capital projects - - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds 363,566 - 12,082
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 363,566 -0- 12,082
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES $ 363566 % 5,000 $ 12,082
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Revenue

Crime
Victims
Rights

Courthouse
Security

Court
Officers

Enforcement Enforcement

Drug

Enforcement

Prosecuting
Altorney

10,297

23,074

24,284

52,970

80,185

33,371

24,284

52,970

90,185

2,381

3,449

2,560

2,381

30,990

3,449

20,835

2,680

50,410

90,185

30,990

20,835

50,410

90,185

33,371

24,284

52,970

90,185




ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable

Due from cther governmental units

State
Local

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Advance from other funds
Deferred revenue

TOTAL LIABILITIES

FUND BALANCES

Reserved for

Capital projects

Unreserved

Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds

TOTAL FUND BALANCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES

Van Buren County, Michigan

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

September 30, 2007

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - CONTINUED

Special
Safe
Law Neighborhood Victims
Library Grant Advocates

$ 1,300 $ - 28,727
) 1,300 $ -0- 29,727
$ 1,300 3 - -
1,300 -0- -0-
- - 29,727
-0- -0- 20,727
3 1,300 5 -0- 29,727
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Revenue

Sheriff Sex
Drain Work Offender Corrections Community Land
Crew Registration Training Corrections Housing Preservation
$ 13,878 $ 680 3 11,075 ) 32,024 $ 42,591 b
- - - 42,660 28,892
3 13,878 § 680 $ 11,075 $ 74684 & 71,483 3 -0-
$ - :3 - $ 1,828 $ 15,600 $ - 5
- - 7.088 3,907 -
-0- -0- 8,916 18,607 -0- -0-
13.878 680 2,159 55177 71,483
13.878 680 2,159 55,177 71,483 -0-
$ 13878  § 680 § 11,075  § 74,684 § 71483 8 -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - CONTINUED

September 30, 2007

Special
Substance Courthouse Social
Abuse Restoration Welfare
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ (3.635) % 5247 § 340,963
Accounts receivable - - -
Due frem other governmental units
State 5919 - -
Local - - -
TOTAL ASSETS ) 2,284 3 5,247 3 340,963
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 682 § - % -
Accrued liabilities 1,192 - -
Advance from other funds - - -
Deferred revenue - - 119,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,874 -0- 119,000
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Capital projects - - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds 410 5,247 221,963
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 410 5,247 221,963
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES $ 2,284 $ 5,247 $ 340,963
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Revenue Debt Service

Building

Soldiers' Authority

Family Child and Sailors' Veterans' g11 1990 DSS
Counseling Care Relief Trust System Building 1997B
5 41,866 5 560,125 $ 162 $ 1,470 $ - $ -
- 12.284 - - - -
3 41866 572409 % 52  § 1470 § -0- % -0-
$ - $ 99,208 $ - 5 36 $ - $ -
- 6,569 - - - -
-0- 106,477 -0- 36 -0- -0-
41,866 465,932 152 1,434 - -
41,866 465,932 152 1,434 -0- -0-
§ 41,866 3 572409 & 152 & 1,470 % 0-  $ -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - CONTINUED

September 30, 2007

Debt Service

Building Building
Authority Authority Building
1988 HSE 1991 HSW Authority
Building 1997A  Building 1997C Jail

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 - & - 3
Accounts receivable - -
Due from other governmental units
State - -
Local - -

TOTAL ASSETS $ -0- Q- %

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 8 - $ - $
Accrued liabilities - -
Advance from other funds - -
Deferred revenue - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES -0- -0-

FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Capital projects - -
Unreserved
Undesignated, reported in
Special Revenue Funds - .

TOTAL FUND BALANCES -0- -0-

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES $ - § -0 $
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Capital Projects

911
System

Building
Autharity
Jail

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

36,751

$ 25,106

$ 3,282,828
10,634

539,156
30,000

& 25,106

$ 3,862,618

B 488,512
129,633

5,000

119,000

752,145

61,857

3,048,616

36,751

25,106

3,110,473

36,751

3 25,106

$ 3862618
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special
Sheriff's Extra Kal-Haven Ambulance
Voted Millage Trail Millage
REVENUES
Taxes $ 1,243,166 - 8 2,184,754
Intergovernmental
Federal/State - - -
Local 10,691 - -
Charges for services - 80,712 -
Fines and forfeits - - -
Interest and rents - - 43 279
Other 20,232 - -
TOTAL REVENUES 1,274,089 80,712 2,228,033
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government - - -
Public safety 1,078,377 - -
Health and welfare - - 2,296,000
Community and economic development - - -
Recreation and cultural - 77,781 -
Capital outlay 40,082 - -
Debt service - - -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,118,459 77,781 2,296,000
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
{(UNDER)} EXPENDITURES 155,630 2,931 (67,967)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 13,275 - -
Transfers out (24.062) - -
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOQURCES (USES) {10,787} -0- -0-
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 144,843 2,931 (67,967)
Fund balances, beginning of year 322,631 21,701 645,296
Fund balances, end of year 3 467,374 24632 § 577,328
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Revenue

Friend of
the Court -
Friend of Court Bench Jail Collection 60% Justice
the Court Equity Warrant Enhancement Agency Training

$ - 3 - 5 - $ - % - $ -
- - 12,361 - - 11,483

22,039 - - - - -

71,950 - - 11,403 76,361 -

7,524 - - - _ _

101,513 -0- 12,361 11,403 76,361 11,483
1,334,930 64,882 8,501 - - -

- - - 9775 106,016 13,231

10,673 - - 23,700 - -

1,345,603 64,882 8,501 33,475 106,016 13,231
(1,244,090) (64,882) 3,860 (22,072) (29,655) (1,748)
1,332,550 68,000 - - - -
1,332,550 68,000 -{J- -0- -0- -0-
88,460 3,118 3,860 {22,072) {29,655) (1,748}

228 418 - 27,156 98,085 18,482

% 88,688 $ 3,536 3 3,860 % 5,084 $ 68,440 5 16,734
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special

Central Dispatch 911
Dispatch Training Wireless

REVENUES
Taxes $ - & - 5 .
Intergovernmental
Federal/State - 10,322 212,642
Local - - -
Charges for services 334,031 - -
Fines and forfeits - - -
Interest and rents - - “
Other - - -

TOTAL REVENUES 334,031 10,322 212,642

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government - - -
Public safety 819,906 7,733 125,679
Health and welfare - - -
Community and economic development - - -
Recreation and cultural - - -

Capital outlay 469 - 3,276

Debt service - - -

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 820,375 7,733 128,955

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
(UNDER}) EXPENDITURES (486,344) 2,589 83,687

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 546,578 - -
Transfers out - - -

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES {USES) 546,578 -0- -0-
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 60,234 2,589 83,687
Fund balances, beginning of year 48,877 1,686 56,788
Fund balances, end of year $ 109,111 § 4175 § 140,475
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Revenue

Local Homeland 2006
Emergency Security Homeland Human
Planning Planning Grant Public Security Services
Commission Commitiee 2005 Improvement Regional Grant West
$ -3 - 8 - 3 - 3 - 3 -
- 5,816 228,156 - 693,545 -
- - - - - 86,411
-0- 58186 229,156 -0- 693,545 86,411
- 5,141 229,155 - 693,545 -
- - - - - 110,782
6,476 - - - - -
6,476 5,141 229,155 -0- 693,545 110,782
(6,476) 675 1 -0- -0- {24,371}
6,500 - - - - -
6,500 -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-
24 675 i -0- -0- (24,371)
- 1,983 - 27 - 41,115
$ 24§ 2,658 1§ 27§ 0- $ 16,744
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special
Register
of Deeds
Automation Contingency Remonumentation
REVENUES
Taxes $ - 8 - 8 -
Intergovernmental
Federal/State - - 124,330
Local - - 30,000
Charges for services 99,944 - -
Fines and forfeits - - -
Interest and rents 17,404 - 980
Other - - -
TOTAL REVENUES 117,348 -0- 155,310
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government - - 194,825
Public safety - - -
Health and welfare - - -
Community and economic development - - -
Recreation and cultural - - -
Capital outlay 96,318 - -
Debt service - - -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 96,318 -0- 194,825
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
{(UNDER) EXPENDITURES 21,030 -0- (39,515)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - - 15,000
Transfers out - - -
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOQURCES (USES) -0- -0- 15,000
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 21,030 -0- (24,515)
Fund balances, beginning of year 342,536 - 36,697
Fund balances, end of year $ 363,566 % 0- % 12,082
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Revenue

Drug
Crime Drug Drug Enforcement
Victims Courthouse Court Enforcement Enforcement Prasecuting
Rights Security Officers Federal State Attorney

- % - % - % - 8 S -
82,854 - - - 6,182 -
- 7,748 68,769 - - -
- - - - 47,923 107,538
- - - - 2,258 -
82,854 7,748 68,769 -0- 56,363 107,538
78,665 75,036 66,987 5,645 22,230 8,012
. - - 48,943 - 11,405
78,665 75,036 66,987 54,588 22,230 19.417
4,189 (67,288) 1,782 {54,588) 34,133 88,121
- 71,846 - - - -
-0- 71,846 -0- -0- -0- -0-

4,189 4,558 1,782 (54,588) 34,133 88,121
26,801 16,277 48,628 62,002 1 2,064
30,980 § 20835 % 50,410 § 7414 § 34134 % 90,185
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special

Safe
Law Neighborhood
Library Grant

Victims
Advocates

REVENUES
Taxes $ -3 -
intergovernmental
Federal/State - .
Local - -
Charges for services -
Fines and forfeits 6,500 -
Interest and rents - -
Other - -

TOTAL REVENUES 6,500 -0-

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government 26,291 -
Public safety - 24,063
Health and welfare - -
Community and economic development - -
Recreation and cultural - -

Capital outlay - -

Debt service - -

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 26,291 24,063

2,412

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES (19.791) (24,063)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 19,666 24,062
Transfers out - -

(775)

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 19,666 24,062

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (125) 1)

Fund balances, beginning of year 125 1

Fund balances, end of year $ -0- % -0-
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Revenue

Sheriff Sex
Drain Work Offender Corrections Community Land

Crew Registration Training Corrections Housing Preservation
- - - % - $ - 5 -

- . - 279,719 144,767 240,000
33,633 - 31,260 35,770 - -
33,633 -0- 31,260 315,489 144,767 240,000
19,755 150 51,827 305,547 - -
- - - - 115,907 240,000

- - 5,000 - - -

19,755 150 56,827 305,547 115,907 240,000
13,878 {150} (25,567} 9,942 28,860 -0-

-0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-

13,878 (150) (25,567) 9,942 28,860 -0-

- 830 27,726 45,235 42,623 -

13,878 680 2159 § 55,177 § 71,483 % -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special

Substance Courthouse
Abuse Restoration

Social
Welfare

REVENUES
Taxes % -8 -
Intergovernmental
Federal/State 59,106 -
Local - .
Charges for services - -
Fines and forfeits - -
Interest and rents - -
Other - 3.145

889,266

TOTAL REVENUES 59,106 3,145

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government - 1,650
Public safety -
Health and welfare 61,640 -
Community and economic development - -
Recreation and cultural - -

Capital outlay - -

Debt service - -

889,266

774,196

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 61,640 1,650

774,196

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES (2,534) 1,495

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - -
Transfers out - -

115,070

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -0- -0-

-0-

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (2,534) 1,495

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,944 3,752

115,070

106,893

Fund balances, end of year $ 410 § 5,247

221,963
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Revenue Debt Service
Building
Soldiers' Authority
Family Child and Sailors’ Veterans' 911 1990 DSS
Counseling Care Relief Trust System Building 18978
$ - - - 8 - - 8 -
- 597,251 - 20,036 - -
- 230,433 - - . .
7,785 - - - - -
7,785 827,684 -0- 20,036 -0- -0-
643 2,148,257 2,400 19,956 - -
- - - - 314,775 348,041
643 2,148,257 2,400 19,956 314,775 348,041
7,142 (1,320,573} {2,400) 80 (314,775) (348,041)
- 1,704,185 2,500 - 314,775 348,041
-0- 1,704,185 2,500 -0- 314,775 348,041
7,142 383,612 100 80 -0- -0-
34,724 82,320 52 1,354 - -
3 41,866 465,932 152 % 1,434 0- § -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Debt Service

Building
Authority
1989 HSE

Building 1997A

Building
Authority
1991 HSW
Building 1997C

Building
Authority
Jail

REVENUES
Taxes $ -
Intergovernmental
Federal/State -
Local -
Charges for services -
Fines and forfeits -
Interest and rents -
Other -

TOTAL REVENUES -0-

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government -
Public safety -
Health and welfare -
Community and economic development -
Recreation and cultural -

Capital cutlay -

Debt service 191,012

126,315

246,443

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 191,012

126,315

246,443

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES {191,012)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 191,012
Transfers out -

(126,315)

126,315

(246,443)

246,443

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOQURCES (USES) 191,012

126,315

246,443

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES -0-

Fund balances, beginning of year -

Fund balances, end of year % -0-
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Capital Projects

911
System

Building
Authority
Jail

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$ 3427920

2,729,670
62,730
1,082,014
161,961
159,070
924,323

8,547,588

1,631,079
3,748,887
5,413,874
362,383
77,781
239,866
1,226,586

-0-

12,700,456

2,318

(4,152,868)

5,030,748
(24.062)

5,006,686

1,154

23,952

853,818

2,256,655

$

25,106

$§ 3110473

-83-



Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2007

2005 Homestead
Delinguent Tax Computer Denial
Revolving Mapping Interest
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents & 69,995 $ 110,036 8 2,516
Receivable
Accounts - - -
Taxes 908,259 - -
Due from cther governmental units - - -
Inventories - - -
Prepaids - - -
Total current assets 978,254 110,036 2,516
Noncurrent assets
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation - - -
TOTAL ASSETS 978,254 110,036 2,516
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable - - -
Accrued liabilities - - -
Deferred revenue - - -
Current portion of bonds payable 180,000 - -
Total current liabilities 180,000 -0- -0-
Noncurrent liabilities
Advance from other funds - 82,317 -
Naoncurrent portion of compensated absences - - -
Total noncurrent liabilities -0- 82,317 -0-
TOTAL LIABILITIES 180,000 82,317 -0-
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - - -
Unrestricted 798,254 27,719 2,516
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 798,254 3 27,719 $ 2,516
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Jail Public
Commissary Transit Total
$ 11,001 $ 641,278 $ 834826
- 26,118 26,118
- - 908,259
- 49,483 49,483
- 11,568 11,568
- 17,821 17,821
11,001 746,268 1,848,075
- 392,883 392,883
11,001 1,139,151 2,240,958
7,389 38,182 45,571
- 11,294 11,294
- 25,000 25,000
- - 180,000
7,389 74,476 261,865
- - 82,317
- 11,936 11,936
-0- 11,836 94,253
7,389 86,412 356,118
- 392,883 302,883
3,612 659,856 1,491,957
$ 3,612 $ 1,052,739 $ 1,884,840
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

2005 Homestead
Delinquent Tax Computer Denial
Revolving Mapping Interest
OPERATING REVENUES
Property taxes, interest, and penalties $ 300217 % - 8 -
Charges for services - 29,162 -
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 300,217 29,162 -0-
CPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and fringes - - -
Fringe benefits - - -
Operating supplies 224 3,757 -
Contractual services - 14,861 -
Depreciation - - -
Other - - -
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 224 18,618 -0-
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 299,993 10,544 -0-
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State operating grants - - -
Federal operating granis - - -
Local operating grants - - -
Interest revenue 28,733 - -
interest expense (132,153) - -
Other - - -
TOTAL NONOPERATING
REVENUES (EXPENSES) {103,420) -0- -0-
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS 196,573 10,544 -0-
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS - - -
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 196,573 10,544 -0-
Net assets, beginning of year 601,681 17,175 2,516
Net assets, end of year $ 798254 § 27,719 § 2,516
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Jail Public

Commissary Transit Total

$ - $ 578573 $§ 878,790
99,722 272,299 401,183
99,722 850,872 1,279,973
- 334,681 334,681

- 219,620 219,620
100,878 114,129 218,088
- 71,895 86,756

- 177,099 177,099

- 40,670 40,670
100,878 958,004 1,077,814
{1,156} {107,222) 202,159

- 329,986 329,986

- 140,046 140,046

- 12,573 12,573

- 13,619 42,352
- - {132,153)

- 3,583 3,583

-0- 499 807 396,387
{1,156) 392,585 598,546

- 36,864 36,864
(1,1586) 429,449 635,410
4,768 623,290 1,249,430

$ 3612 $§ 1,052,738 § 1,884,840
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended Septernber 30, 2007

2005 Homestead
Delinquent Tax Computer Denial
Revolving Mapping Interest
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers $ 3134009 § 29162 § -
Cash received from other funds - 82,317 -
Cash paid to suppliers {726) (18,618) -
Cash paid to employees for services and benefits - - -
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,133,283 92,861 0-
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Intergovernmental sources - - -
Payment of borrowings (4,800,000) - -
Interest expense {132,153} - -
NET CASH PROVIDED {USED} BY NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4,932,153} -0- -0-
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributed by governmental units - - -
Capital purchases - - -
NET CASH PROVIDED BY CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANMCING ACTWITIES -0- -0- -0-
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Other - - -
Interest revenue 28,733 - -
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 28,733 -0- -0-
MET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,770,137} 92,861 -0-
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,840,132 17.175 2,516
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year & 69,995 $ 110,036 $ 2,516

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities
Operating income {loss) $ 269,993
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating aclivities
Depreciation -
Decrease in receivables 2.833,792
{Increase) in due from other governmental units -
{Increase) in inventories -
{Increase) in prepaids -
Increase in accounts payable -
Increase in deferred revenue -
(Decrease) in compensated absences -
Increase in advance from other funds -
{Decrease) in other liabilities {502)

NET CASH PROVIDED
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES § 3133283

$ 92,861 8 -0-
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Jail Public
Commissary Transit Tolal
$ 99,722 3 821,120 § 4,084,013
- - 82,317
{95,181} (30,802) (145,327)
. {704,550} (704,550)
4,541 85,768 3,316,453
- 482,605 482,605
- - {(4,800,000)
- - {132,153)
-0- 482,605 (4,449,548)
- 36,864 36,864
- (24,701) (24,701)
-0- 12,163 12,163
- 3,583 3,583
- 13.619 42,352
-0- 17,202 45,935
4,541 597,738 {1,074,997)
6,460 43,540 1,809,823
$ 11,001 $ 641,278 § 834,826
% (1156) § (107.222) $ 202,159
- 177,099 177,099
- 6,935 2,840,727
- (36,687) (36,687)
- (2,581) {2,581)
- {1,084} {1,084)
5,697 24,768 30,465
- 25,000 25,000
- {460) {460)
- - 82,317
- . {502)
3 4,541 b 85,768 § 3316453
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Agency Funds
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

September 30, 2007

Trust and Payroll
Agency Imprest Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7.146,104 3 29,150 $ 7,175,254
LIABILITIES
Due to other governmental units $ 6975425 $ - $ 6,975,425
Due to individuals and agencies 170,679 29,150 199,829
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 7,146,104 3 29,150 $ 7,175,254
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Component Unit Funds

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DRAINAGE DISTRICT

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Special assessments receivable
Due from other funds

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Advances from other governmental units
Deferred revenue

TOTAL LIABILITIES

FUND BALANCES
Reserved for capilal projects

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES

September 30, 2007

Capital

Drain Maintenance

Drain Revolving Revolving
% 598,183 - -
650,253 - -
- 187,900 123,045
$ 1,248,436 187,900 123,045
$ 26,807 - -
249,735 - -
- 180,000 100,000
650,253 - -
926,795 180,000 100,000
321,641 7,900 23,045
$ 1,248,436 187,900 123,045
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Projects

Lake
Level Total
% 61,210 659,393
- 650,253
- 310,945
3 61,210 1,620,591
$ - 26,807
61,210 310,945
- 280,000
- 650,253
61,210 1,268,005
- 352,586
$ 61,210 1,620,591
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds

RECONCILIATION OF THE COMBINING BALANCE SHEET TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - DRAINAGE DISTRICT

September 30, 2007

Total fund balances - governmental funds 5 352,586
Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in the governmental fund.

The cost of capital assets is $ 1,219,151
Accumulated depreciation is (527,702)
Capital assets, net 691,449

Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures
and are therefore deferred in the funds. These consist of:

Deferred revenue 650,253
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period

and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.
Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Bonds and notes payable 237,667
Accrued interest payable 3.008
{240,765)
Net assets of governmental activities $ 1,453,523
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES - DRAINAGE DISTRICT

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Capital
Drain Maintenance
Drain Revolving Revalving
REVENUES
Interest $ 36,731 $ - 8 -
Other
Special assessments 255,166 - “
Miscellaneous 3,057 - -
TOTAL REVENUES 294 954 -0- -0-
EXPENDITURES
Current
Public works 349,951 - 15,070
Debt service
Principal 231,000 - -
Interest and fiscal charges 10,220 - -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 591,171 -0- 15,070
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (296,217} -0- {15,070)
Fund balances, beginning of year 617,858 7,800 38.115
Fund balances, end of year $ 321,641 $ 7900 % 23,045
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Projects

Lake

Level Total
1,500 38,231
33,865 289,031
- 3,057
35,365 330,319
58,854 423,875
- 231,000
- 10,220
58,854 665,085

(23,489) (334,776)

23,489 687,362
-0- 352,586
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - DRAINAGE DISTRICT

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 3

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Capital cutlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives

as depreciation expense. In the current period, these amounts are:

Capital outlay $ 91,012
Depreciation expense (58,681)

Excess of capitat outlay over depreciation expense

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds. In the current period, these amounts consist of;

Increase in deferred revenue
Repayment of long-term debt and borrowing of long-term debt is reported as expenditures and
other financing sources in governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities and the borrowings increase long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.
In the current year, these amounts consist of:

Bond and note principal retirement
Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. These

activities consist of:

(Increase) in accrued interest payable

(334,776)

32,331

94,064

231,000

(3,098)

Change in net assets of governmental activities $

18,521
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DEPARTMENT COF PUBLIC WORKS

September 30, 2007

Debt
Lawrence Paw Paw Covert
Sewer Water Water
No.6 No.1 No.10
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 394 % 125,094 % 250
Accounts receivable - - -
TOTAL ASSETS $ 394 $ 125,094 $ 250
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES 5 - % - % -
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Debt service 394 125,094 250
Capital expenditures - - -
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 394 125,094 250
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES $ 394 $ 125,004 $ 250
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Service

Casco/South Paw Paw Cascol/South Hartford Casco/South
Haven Water Lawton Water Haven Water Water & Haven Water
& Sewer No.1 Wastewater No.2 & Sewer No.2 Sewer & Sewer No.3
$ 550 % (13,8950) % (46,965) 3% 328 150 % -
- 13,950 46,967 - - -

& 550 b 0- % 2 % 328 180 % -0-
$ - % - % - % - - % -
550 - 2 328 150 -

550 -0- 2 328 150 -0-

$ 550 % Q- 3 2 3 328 150 % -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - CONTINUED

September 30, 2007

Debt
Paw Paw Sister 2002
Sewer Lakes Covert
No.6 Sewer Water
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 138 § - % 38
Accounts receivable - - -
TOTAL ASSETS 3 138 % -0 § 38
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES $ - % - % -
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for
Debt service 138 - 38
Capital expenditures - - -
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 138 -0- 38
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES $ 138 & 0 % 38
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Capital

Service Projects
2003 2003
Covert Covert
Water Water Total
8 & 96528 § 162,563

- - 60,917

8 % 96,528 9 223,480

-3 -3 -0-
8 - 126,952
- 96,528 96,528
8 96,528 223,480

8 § 86,528 223,480
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds

RECONCILIATION OF THE COMBINING BALANCE SHEET TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

September 30, 2007

Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 223,480
Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:
Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period
expenditures and therefore are not reported as assets in the funds.
Long-term receivables at year-end consist of:
Lease receivable 43,917,265
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period

and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.
Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Accrued interest payable 3 739,217
Bonds payable 43,305,000
(44,044,217)
Net assets of governmental activities 3 96,528
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Component Unit Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

REVENUES
Intergovernmental - local
Interest

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Current
Public works
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges
Capital outlay

TOTAL EXPENDITURES
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

Debt
Lawrence Paw Paw Covert
Sewer Water Water
No.6 No.1 No.10
$ 28250 % 139,738 & 313,487
28,250 139,738 313,487
15,000 110,000 300,000
12,875 31,938 13,425
27,875 141,938 313,425
375 (2,200) 62
19 127,294 188
3 394 $ 125,094 % 250
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Service

Casco/South FPaw Paw Casco/South Hartford Casco/South
Haven Water Lawton Water Haven Water Water & Haven Water
& Sewer No.1 Wastewater No.2 & Sewer No.2 Sewer & Sewer No.3
L 411,350 $ i18913 % 53934 § 406,405 % 32983 % 892,125
411,350 118,913 53,034 406,405 32,983 892125

- - - - - 2,100

150,000 90,000 45,000 180,000 15,000 400,000
261,350 28,913 8,934 226,105 17,983 490,025
411,350 118,913 53,934 406,105 32,983 892,125

-0- -0- -0- 300 -0- -0-

550 - 2 28 150 -

3 550 % 0- % 2 % 328 § 150 § -0-
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Van Buren County, Michigan

Component Unit Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

REVENUES
Intergovernmental - local
Interest

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Current
Public works
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges
Capital outlay

TOTAL EXPENDITURES
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

Debt
Paw Paw Sister 2002
Sewer Lakes Covert
No.6 Sewer Water
% 60,940 1,034,338 % 303,513
60,940 1,034,338 303,513
30,000 625,000 100,000
30,802 409,338 203,513
60,802 1,034,338 303,513
138 -D- -0-
- - 38
3 138 Q- § 38
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Capital

Service Projects
2003 2003
Covert Covert
Water Water Total
381,611 $ - $ 4177587
- 4,576 4,576
381,611 4,576 4,182,163
- - 2,100
75,000 - 2,135,000
306,613 - 2,041,814
- 21,831 21,831
381,613 21,831 4,200,745
(2 {17,255) {18,582)
10 113,783 242,062

8§ § 96,528 § 223,480
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Component Unit Funds
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL
FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 3 (18,582)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Repayment of long-term debt and borrowing of long-term debt is reported as expenditures and
other financing sources in governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term

liabilities and the borrowings increase long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.

In the current year, these amounts consist of:

Bond principal retirement $ 2,135,000
Lease praceeds (2,168,032)
(33,032)
Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. These
activities consist of:
Decrease in accrued interest payable 34,359
Change in net assets of governmental activities 3 {17,255)
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Van Buren County, Michigan

BALANCE SHEET - ECONOMIC DEVELOQPMENT CORPORATION

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
l.oans receivable
Interest receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
LIABILITIES
Deferred revenue

FUND BALANCE
Unreserved
Undesignated

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Component Unit Funds

September 30, 2007
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Special
Revenue

334,902
536,705
1.007

872,614

536,705

335,909

872,614




Van Buren County, Michigan
Compgnent Unit Funds

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

September 30, 2007

Fund balance - governmental fund $ 335,809
Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures
and are therefore deferred in the funds. These consist of:

Deferred revenue 536,705

Net assets of governmental activities % 872,614
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Compaonent Unit Funds

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Special
Revenue
REVENUES
Interest 8 33,409
Other 156,141
TOTAL REVENUES 189,550
EXPENDITURES
Current
Community and economic development 210,134
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE {20,584)
Fund balance, beginning of year 356,493
Fund balance, end of year i 335,809
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Van Buren County, Michigan
Comgpanent Unit Funds
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Net change in fund balance - governmental fund $ {20,584)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial rescurces
are not reported as revenues in the funds. In the current period, these amounts consist of:

Increase in deferred revenue 52,859

Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 32,275
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT CF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Commissioners
of Van Buren County
Paw Paw, Michigan

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Van
Buren County, Michigan as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007, which collectively comprise Van Buren
County's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated May 7, 2008. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Van Buren County's internal control over financial reporting as
a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinicn on the effectiveness of Van Buren County’s internal
contral over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Van Buren
County's internal control over financial reporting.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might
be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we identified certain
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in
the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of contral deficiencies, that adversely affects the
County's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the
County's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the County's
internal control. We consider the deficiencies described below to be significant deficiencies in internal control over
financial reparting.

2007-1 PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAAP

Condition: As part of the audit process, the County, like many other governments, has historically relied on the
independent auditors to assist in the preparation of the government-wide and fund financial statements, as well as
the related notes to the financial statements, as part of its external financial reporting process. It is more cost
effective to outsource the preparation of the annual financial statements to the independent auditors than to incur
the time and expense of having the employees and/or management obtain the necessary training and expertise
required to perform this task internally. The County requires the assistance of the independent auditors to prepare
its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP).

East Lansing = Rochester Hills = St. Johns
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2007-1 PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAAP - CONTINUED

Criteria: Governmental entities are required to issue financial statements that are prepared in accordance with
GAAP. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 112 {SAS 112), Communicating Infernal Conirol Related Matfers
Identified in an Audit, emphasizes that responsibility for the financial statements rests with the County's
management. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires internal contrals over
both (1) recording, processing, and summarizing accounting data ({i.e., maintaining internal accounting records),
and (2) reporting government-wide and fund financial statements, including the related note disclosures {i.e.,
external financial reporting).

Effect: The County relies, in part, on the independent auditors for assistance with the preparation of annual
financial statements and related notes to the financial statements in accordance with GAAP. This reliance makes
the independent auditors effectively part of the County’s internal controls. By definition, independent auditors
cannot be part of the County's internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend the County consider providing applicable employees with training that would
allow them to attain the qualifications required to fully understand the GAAP financial statement preparation
process. Should the County choose not to address this issue, management and the Board of Commissioners
should realize that an increased risk is present.

This recommendation is not intended to imply that the County's contractual amangement with the independent
auditors, which includes preparation of the financial statements, is improper or should be changed. SAS 112 does
not require that management actually prepare the financial statements, but it requires the independent auditors to
comment when the applicable internal controls are not in place.

Correclive Action Response: Management of the County will continue to look for opportunities to increase aur
understanding of the requirements of preparing GAAP financial statements. However, at this time we believe it is
not cost beneficial in our situation to develop this expertise. We will conlinue to use our external auditors for this
technical assistance. We would expect this situation to be ongeing for future years.

2007-2 MATERIAL JOURNAL ENTRIES PROPOSED BY AUDITORS

Condition: Material journal entries for the proper recognition accounts payable, accounts receivable, and drain
control accounts were proposed by the auditors. These misstatements were not detected by the County's
internal control over financial reporting. These entries were brought to the attention of management and were
subsequently recorded in the County’s general ledger.

Criteria: Statement on Auditing Standards No. 112 (SAS 112), Communicating internal Controil Related Malters
Identified in an Audif, emphasizes that management is responsible for establishing, maintaining, and monitoring
internal controls, and for the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows (where applicable), including the notes to the financial statements, in conformity with
L.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The auditor cannot be a part of internal centrols.

Effect: Through the identification of material journal entries that were not otherwise identified by management,
the auditors are effectively part of the County’s internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend that the County take steps to ensure that material journal entries are not
necessary at the time future audit analysis is performed.

Correclive Action Response: The County will work toward having all material journal entries completed before
auditing fieldwork commences in the future.

2007-3 RECONCILIATION TO THE GENERAL LEDGER AND BANK RECONCILIATIONS

Condition: During our analysis of the Department of Human Services for Van Buren County, we noted that the
bank reconciliations had not been performed in a timely manner. In addition, the revenue and expense accounts
maintained in the County’s computerized general ledger were not reconciled with the general ledger maintained by
the Department of Human Services for the year ended September 30, 2007.
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2007-3 RECONCILIATION TO THE GENERAL LEDGER AND BANK RECONGILIATIONS - CONTINUED

Criteria: Internal control is a process - effected by an entity’'s board of directors, management, and other
personnel - designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following
categories: (a) reliability of financial reporting, (b) effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and (c) compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.

Internal control consists of five interrelated components:

a. Conirol environment sets the tone of an organization, influencing the control consciousness of its people.
It is the foundation for all other components of internal control, providing discipline and structure.

b. Risk assessment is the entity’s identification and analysis of relevant risk to achievement of its objectives,
forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed.

c. Confrol activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that management directives are carried
out.

d. information and communication systems support the identification, capture, and exchange of information
in a form and time frame that enable people to carry out their responsibilities.

e. Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of internal control performance over time.

The completion of bank reconciliations and other reconciliations is considered a monitoring activity and essential
to sound internal control.

Effect: The completicn of bank reconciliations and reconciliation of accounts with the general ledger are a
significant part of the internal controls of the Department. By not performing such reconciliations, the
Department is not maintaining sufficient internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend that bank reconciliations be completed on a monthly basis and that
completed reconciliations be pericdically reviewed by management and tied to the computerized general ledger.
We also recommend that the Department review and reconcile all accounts monthly and ensure that the
balances are agreed with the computerized general ledger prior to audit fieldwork. The review should be
documented with the reviewer's initials and date of review and be retained for audit purposes.

Corrective Action Response: County will ask Department of Human Services to provide Treasurer's Office on a
monthly basis a Bank Statement that has been reviewed and reconciled.

20074 SEPARATION OF DUTIES

Condition: During our analysis and testing of the internal contro! structures, we noted that additional separation of
duties may be needed to strengthen internal control. Specifically we noted that the same individuals that are
responsible for printing checks also maintain physical custody of unused check stock and signature plates. We
also noted that an individual in the treasurer’s office maintains the general ledger {i.e., post adjusting journal
entries, etc.) and is also able to process cash receipls.

Criteria: The main concept of an internal control structure is to assure that no one person handles all aspects of
processing a transaction.

Effect: Management has not placed adequate internal control systems into operation.

Recommendation: We recommend the County take steps to ensure that accounting duties are segregated to
extent possible. We also recommend that physical custody of unused check stock and signature plates be
maintained by someone independent of the check printing function. This will strengthen the internal control
systems.

Corrective Action Response: County Clerk will take responsibility for storing and distributing County checks.

2007-5 WIRE-TRANSFERS

Condition: During our analysis of the County’s balance sheet accounts, we noted that the County duplicated
certain wire-transfers on bond payments, requiring a refund from the financial institution resulting from the over

payment.
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2007-5 WIRE-TRANSFERS - CONTINUED

Criteria: Internal control is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of
objectives in the following categories: (a) reliability of financial reporting, (b) effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, and (c) compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Effect: The related bond payments were disbursed twice. These appears to be a temporary breakdown in the
internal controls over financial reporting that were designed to prevent duplicate disbursemenis for the same
service or invoice.,

Recommendation; We recommend that the County review the procedures related to cash disbursement to
ensure that funds are not disbursed more than once for the same items in the future.

Corrective Action Response: We have reviewed the procedures and implement correction action to include that
the County Treasurer will counter sign any wire transfer for bond payments.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than
a remote likelihood that a2 material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by
the County's internal control.

Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
significant deficiencies and, accordingly, would not necessarily disclose all significant deficiencies that are also
considered to be material weaknesses. We believe that the significant deficiencies described above as 2007-2,
2007-3, and 2007-4 are material weaknesses.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Van Buren County's financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an
instance of noncomptiance or other matters that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards
and which is described below.

2007-6 UNFAVORABLE BUDGET VARIANCES AND LATE AMENDMENT OF THE BUDGET

Condition: During our review of the County's compliance with the budgeting act, we noted that the County
amended the adopted budget after year end. In addition, we noted the expenditures exceeded the amounts
appropriated in several of the County’s Special Revenue funds as noted in the notes to the financial statements.

Criteria: Michigan Public Act 621 of 1978, as amended, provides that the County adopt formal budgets for all
applicable General and Special Revenue Funds, and shall not incur expenditures in excess of the amounts
appropriated. Also, the Public Act requires the Board of Commissioners to amend the original adopted budget "as
soon as it becomes apparent that a deviation from the original general appropriations act is necessary and the
amount of the deviation can be determined”.

Effect: The County has not maintained adequate control over budgetary compliance in accordance with State law.
Recommendation: We recommend the Board of Commissioners of Van Buren County monitor budgeted
expenditures against actual expenditures on a more frequent basis and amend the criginal adopted budget to
alleviate future unfavorable budget variances in a timely manner.

Corrective Action Response: Al budget amendments will be approved by the County Board of Commissioners
prior to the end of the fiscal year. In addition, Staff will prepare on a monthly basis budget amendments to insure
that an activity and special revenue funds has a budget surplus.

Van Buren County's responses to the findings identified in our audit are described above. We did not audit Van
Buren County’s responses and, accordingly, we express no opinicn on them.
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Commissioners of Van
Buren County, others within the County, and the Federal award agencies and is not intended to be and should not
be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

£ LU PRIV < M@hﬂ—:‘?c .

ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

May 7, 2008
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO
EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Board of Commissioners
of Van Buren County
Paw Paw, Michigan

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of Van Buren County, Michigan with the types of compliance requirements
described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budgef (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are
applicable to each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2007. Van Buren County's
maijor federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable o each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of Van Buren County's management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on Van Buren County's compliance based on our audit,

Van Buren County's basic financial statements include the operations of the Van Buren/Cass County District
Public Health Department and Van Buren County Road Commission, discretely presented component units, which
received $1,579,583 and $2,007,620 in federal awards, respectively, which is not included in the Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards for the year ended September 30, 2007. Our single audit did not include the
operations of the Van Buren/Cass County District Public Health Department discretely presented component unit
because the component unit engaged us to perform a separate audit in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. The
Van Buren County Road Commission did not have a single audit required because the Michigan Depariment of
Transportation (MDOT} requires that road commissions report all Federal and State grants pertaining to their
county. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Federal aid received and expended by the Road
Commission was $2,007,620 for contracted projects and $0 for negotiated projects. Contracted projects are
defined as projects performed by private contractors paid for and administrated by MDOT, The contracted Federal
projecis are not subject to single audit requirements by the road commissions, as they are included in MDOT’s
single audit. Negofiated projects are defined as projects performed by Road Commission employees or private
contractors paid for and administered by the Road Commission.

Van Buren County's basic financial statements include the operation of the Van Buren County Public Transit
enterprise fund, which received $140,046 in federal awards which is not included in the Schedule of Expenditures
of Federal Awards during the year ended September 30, 2007. Qur audit, described below, did not include the
operation of the Van Buren County Public Transit enterprise fund because they engage other auditors to perform
that audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Nonprofit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.
An audit includes examining, on a lest basis, evidence about Van Buren County's compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumslances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal
determination of Van Buren County's compliance with those requirements.

East Lansing = Rochester Hills = St. Johns
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In our opinion, Van Buren County complied, in all material respects, with the requirements refemed to above that
are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the year ending September 30, 2007.

Internat Control Over Compliance

The management of Van Buren County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal pregrams. In
planning and performing our audit, we considered Van Buren County's internal control over compliance with
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine our
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance, Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of Van Buren County’s internal contral over compliance.

A control deficiency in an entity’s internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions,
to prevent or detect noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely
basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely
affects the entity's ability to administer a federal program such that there is more than a remote likelihcod that
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is more than inconsequential
will not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more
than a remote likelihood that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.

QOur consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Van
Buren County, Michigan as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007, and have issued our report thereon
dated May 7, 2008. Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise Van Buren County's basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures
of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by OMB Circular A-133 and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Van Buren County’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit Van Buren County's responses and, accordingly,
we express no apinion on them.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the Board of Commissioners of Van

Buren County, others within the entity, and Federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Qrodosnn & bﬂ%‘ﬁ.?‘--

ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.
Cerlified Public Accountants

May 7, 2008



Van Buren County

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
U.8. DEPARTMENT CF AGRICULTURE
Passed through Michigan Department of Labor and Econcmic Growth
Food Stamps'®
Employment and Training FYQ7
Employment and Training FY06

Passed through Michigan Department of Agriculture
Farm and Ranch Lands Protection Program

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Passed through Michigan State Housing Development Authority
Community Development Block Grant - State's Program
Program Income
2006-2007

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

U.S. DEPARTMENT CF JUSTICE
Passed through Michigan Department of Community Health
and Michigan Department of State Police
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program
Byrne Memorial Formula Grants
Southwest Enfarcement Team Byme JAG Grant

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

U.S. DEPARTMENT CF LABOR
Passed through Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth
Employment Services'®
Employment Services

Unemployment Insurance (Reed Acty®
Reed Act

Trade Adjustment Assistance’ @
TAAFY06
TAAFYO7

CFDA, Pass-Through
Number Grantors Number

Expenditures

10.561
NiA
NiA
10.913 79187200008
14.228
MSC-2005-5830-HOA
MSC-2005-5830-HOA
16.738
20051822
70888-8-07-8
17.207
N/A
17.225
N/A
17.245
NIA
N/A

$

88,095
44,803

132,898

120,000

252,898

50,531

144,767

195,298

$9,106
6,182

65,288

417,481

61,684

54,337

208,195

262,532



Van Buren County
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

CFDA Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title Number Grantors Number Expenditures
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT - CONTINUED
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR - CONTINUED
Workiorce Investment Act!® @} 17.258
Adult N/A $ 835,861
Administration® N/A 107,204
Youth Statewide™ N/A 3,972
Incumbent Worker - Statewide! N/A 21,970
Benton Harbor Youth Works - Statewide - FY07% N/A 13,963
Benton Harbor Youth Works - Statewide - FY06% NIA 65,327
Displaced Homemaker - Statewide® NIA 13,721
GET-set - Statewide" NIA 6,619
21st Century - Statewide® N/A 12,413
RSA Hospitality - Statewide™ N/A 20,225
Capacity Building - Statewide® N/A 18,490
STRIVE - Statewide! N/A 33,718
One-Stop - Statewide' N/A 29,181
Incentive - Statewide! N/A 7.357
1,190,021
Passed through Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth
Workforce Investment Act® @ 17.259

Youth N/A 694,512
Administration'® N/A 110,212
Youth Statewide® N/A 4,314
Incumbent Worker - Statewide™ N/A 23,860
Bentan Harbor Youth Warks - Statewide - FYg7? NiIA, 15,164
Benton Harbor Youlh Warks - Statewide - FYgs NiA 70,949
Displaced Homemaker - Statewide™ NIA, 14,902
GET-set - Statewide™ N/A 7,188
21st Century - Statewide®™ N/A 13,481
RSA Hospitality - Statewide" N/A 21,965
Capacity Building - Statewide'” N/A 20,081
STRIVE - Statewide! N/A 36,619
One-Stop - Statewide! N/A 31,704
Incentive - Statewide! N/A 7.990
1,072,941



Van Buren County
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS - CONTINUED

Year Ended Seplember 30, 2007

CFDA Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title Number Grantors Number Expenditures
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT -~ CONTINUED
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR - CONTINUED
Workforce Investment Act®® @ ©® 17.260
Dislocated Worker N/A % 899,170
Rapid Respense N/A BG
Administration'® N/A 153,917
Youth Statewide® N/A 7,183
Incumbent Worker - Statewide'® N/A 39,721
Benton Harbor Youth Works - Statewide - FYo7% N/A 25,245
Benton Harbor Youth Works - Statewide - FY06Y N/A 118,111
Displaced Homemaker - Statewide' N/A 24,800
GET-set - Statewide™” N/A 11,966
21st Century - Statewide™ N/A 22,443
RSA Hospitality - Statewide!” N/A 36,566
Capacity Building - Statewide™ N/A 33,429
STRIVE - Statewide" N/A 60,062
One-Stop - Statewide® NIA 52,791
Scholarships NIA 4,789
Incentive - Statewide!” NIA 13,302
1,504,490
Work Incentive Grant™® 17.266
Disability Program Navigator N/A 31,799
Literacy Program'® 17267
Benton Harbor Literacy Program NiA 47,712
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR 4,588,660
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Passed through Michigan Department of State Police
Summer Enfoercement Grants 20.600 PT-07-35 22,981
Hazardous Malerials Emergency Planning Grant 20.703
FYO7 NIA 3.216
FY06 N/A 2,600
5,816
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 28,797
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Passed through Michigan Departiments of Human Services
and Labor and Economic Growth
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families@ 93.558
Work First - FY07 N/A 1,582,014
Work First - FY06 NIA 642,164
Work First - Transportation to Work N/A 110,924
Work First - MIS N/A 7,184
Work First - PET Pilot NiA 59,617
2,401,903



Van Buren County
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

CFDA Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Granter/Program Title Number Grantors Number Expenditures
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT - CONTINUED
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Passed through Michigan Department of Human Services
Title IV-D, Child Support Enforcement 93,563
Cooperative Reimbursement Program'® CS/ICOMB-07-80003 $ 540,261
Federal Incentive Payments™ N/A 172,018
712,279
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 3,114,182
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
Passed through Michigan Department of State Police
Emergency Management Performance Grant 97.042 N/A 24,746
State Homeland Security Grants 97.067
2005 Homeland Security Grant Program N/A 229,156
2006 Homeland Security Grant Program N/A 693.545
922,701
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 947,447
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS $ 9,192,570



Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

September 30, 2007

NOTE A: BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the Federal grant activity of Van Buren
County, Michigan and is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is
presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audils of States, Local Governments, and
Nonprofit Organizations. Therefore, some amounis presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented
in or used in the preparation of the basic financial statements, which are reconciled in Note C.

NOTE B: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT EXPLANATIONS OF SCHEDULE

The following descriptions identified below as (a) - (g) represent explanations that cross reference to amounts on
the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards:

(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)

U}

Reimbursements of these contracts are passed through the State. The amounts reported on the Schedule
of Expenditures of Federal Awards represent the Federal portion of the respective amounts based on the
following percentages of Federal participation:

CFDA
Program _ Number Percent
Farm and Ranch Lands Protection Program 10.913 50%
Cooperative Reimbursement 93.563 66

The reimbursements for the IV-D Incentive Payments Program are based on support payments collected.
Expenditures have been reported to the extent of earned revenues.

Denotes programs tested as “major programs”.
Denoted programs required to be clustered by the United States Department of Labor.

The Workforce Investment Act administrative cost pool expenditures are allocated to funding sources based
on percentages of allocations made from each funding source.

The Workforce Investment Act Statewide Activities expenditures are allocated to funding sources based on
percentages provided by the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth (MDLEG).

The County administers certain federal awards programs through subrecipients. The subrecipient, Berien-
Cass-Van Buren Workforce Development Board doing business as Michigan Works {Michigan Works) is not
considered part of the County of Van Buren, Michigan reporting entity. The federal expenditures presented
in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the grant awards received by the County of Van
Buren {on behalf of Berrien, Cass and Van Buren Counties) passed through to Michigan Works to
administer Federal and State employment and ftraining funds for the counties. The grant expenditures
include U.S. Department of Agriculture Food Stamps expenditures in the amount of $132,898; U.S.
Department of Labor in the amount of $4,588,660; and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families expenditures in the amount of $2,401,903. The Berrien-Cass-
Van Buren Workforce Development Board engaged us to perform a separate audit in accordance with OMB
Circular A-133. The expenditures included in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are based on
our financial and single audit of the Berrien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce Development Board doing business
as Michigan Works fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. Michigan Works' financial statements have been
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

An unqualified opinion was issued on the financial statements of Berrien-Cass-Van Buren Workforce
Development Board. There were two (2) significant deficiencies disclosed by the audit of the basic financial
statements. We noted no instances of noncompliance with laws, regulaticns, contracts and grants that could
have a direct and material affect on the financial statements.



Van Buren County, Michigan
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

September 30, 2007

NOTE B: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT EXPLANATIONS OF SCHEDULE - CONTINUED

An unqualified opinion was issued on compliance for the major programs of Berrien-Cass-Van Buren
Workforce Development Board. There were no significant deficiencies related to internal controls or
compliance for the major programs tested. We noted one (1) instance of noncompliance with laws,
regulations, contracts and grants that could have a direct and material affect on the major programs.

(g) This program is reporied as of the fiscal year-end of June 30, 2007.

NOTE C: RECONCILIATION TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

The foliowing reconciles the federal revenues reported in the September 30, 2007 basic financia) statements to the
expenditures of the County administered federal programs reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal

Awards:

Federal/ Less: Federal
State/Local State/Local Award
Revenue Revenue Expenditures
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
GENERAL FUND
Cooperative Reimbursement $ 830629 $ 290,368 $ 540,261
V-D Incentive 172,018 - 172,018
Summer Enforcement Grant 22,981 - 22,981
Emergency Management Performance Grant 24,746 - 24,746
Other Programs 2,117,848 2.117,848 -0-
TOTAL GENERAL FUND 3,168,222 2,408,216 760,006
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Local Emergency Planning Committee 5,816 - 5816
Homeland Security Grant 2004 229,156 - 229,156
2006 Homeland Security Regional Grant 693,545 - 693,545
Diug Enforcement State 6,182 - 6,182
Housing Program Income 74,339 23,808 50,531
Housing 144,767 - 144,767
Land Preservation 240,000 120,000 120,000
Substance Abuse 59,106 - 59,106
Workforce Development Board 8,491,324 1,367,863 7,123,461
Other Funds 1.413,728 1,413,728 -0-
TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 11,357,963 2,925,399 8,432 564
TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT $14,526,185 $ 5.333,615 $ 9,192,570
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFCRMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Commissioners
of Van Buren County
Paw Paw, Michigan

We have zudited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, the aggregate discretely presented component units, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Van
Buren County, Michigan as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007, which coltectively comprise Van Buren
County's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated May 7, 2008. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Van Buren County's internal control over financial reporting as
a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the basic financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Van Buren County’s internal
contral over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion an the effectiveness of Van Buren
County's internal control over financial reporting.

Qur consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might
be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we identified certain
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in
the normal course of performing their assigned functions, lo prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the
County's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihcod that a misstatement of the
County's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the County's
internal control. We consider the deficiencies described as Findings 2007-1, 2007-2, 2007-3, 2007-4 and 2007-5
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs to be significant deficiencies in internal control
over financial reperting.

A malterial weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than
a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by
the County's internal control.

Qur consideration of the internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
significant deficiencies and, accordingly, would not necessarily disclose all significant deficiencies that are also
considered to be material weaknesses. We believe that the significant deficiencies described in the schedule of
findings and questioned costs as Findings 2007-2, 2007-3, and 20074 are material weaknesses.

East Lansing = Rochester Hills = St. Johns
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Van Buren County's financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
cbjective of cur audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an
instance of noncompliance or other matters that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards
and which is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Finding 2007-6.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management and the Board of Commissioners of Van Buren County
in a separate letter dated May 7, 2008.

Van Buren County's responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit Van Buren County's responses and, accordingly, we express
no opinion on them.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the Board of Commissioners of Van

Buren County, others within the entity, and the Federal award agencies and is not intended to be, and should not
be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Oenchau~ 4 Heflvan , P

ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

May 7, 2008
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Van Buren County, Michigan

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued:
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weakness{es)?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Type of auditor's report issued on comgliance for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported with
Section 501(a) of Circular A-1337

Identification of major programs:

Unqualified
X Yes
X Yes
X Yes
Yes
Yes
Unqualified
Yes

No

No

No

No

None reported

No

CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
17.245 Trade Adjustment Assistance
17.258, 17.259, and 17.260 Workforce Investment Act Cluster
93.563 Child Support Enforcement (Title 1V-D)

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and
Type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

$ 300,000

Yes

2007-1 PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAAP

No

Condition: As part of the audit process, the County, like many other governments, has historically relied on the
independent auditors to assist in the preparation of the government-wide and fund financial statements, as well as
the related notes to the financial statements, as part of its external financial reporting process. [t is mare cost
effective to outsource the preparation of the annual financial statements to the independent auditors than to incur
the time and expense of having the employees and/or management obtain the necessary training and expertise
required to perform this task internally. The County requires the assistance of the independent auditors to prepare
its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America (GAAP).
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Section I - Financial Statement Findings - continued

2007-1 PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAAP - CONTINUED

Criteria: Governmental entities are required to issue financial statements that are prepared in accordance with
GAAP. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 112 (SAS 112), Communicating Infternal Conlrol Related Matlers
identified in an Audil, emphasizes that responsibility for the financial statements rests with the County's
management. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires internal contrals over
both (1) recording, processing, and summarizing accounting data {i.e., maintaining internal accounting records),
and (2) reporting government-wide and fund financial statements, including the related note disclosures (i.e.,
external financial reporting).

Effect: The County relies, in part, on the independent auditors for assistance with the preparation of annual
financial statements and related notes to the financial statements in accordance with GAAP. This reliance makes
the independent auditors effectively part of the County's internal controls. By definition, independent auditors
cannot be part of the County's internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend the County consider providing applicable employees with training that would
allow them to aftain the qualifications required to fully understand the GAAP financial statement preparation
process. Should the County choose not to address this issue, management and the Board of Commissioners
should realize that an increased risk is present.

This recommendation is not intended to imply that the County's contractual arrangement with the independent
auditors, which includes preparation of the financial statements, is improper or should be changed. SAS 112 does
not require that management actually prepare the financial statements, but it requires the independent auditors to
comiment when the applicable internal controls are not in place.

Corrective Action Response: Management of the County will continue to look for opportunities to increase our
understanding of the requirements of preparing GAAP financial statements. However, at this time we believe it is
not cost beneficial in our situation to develop this expertise. We will continue to use our external auditors for this
technicat assistance. We would expect this sitluation to be ongoing for future years.

2007-2 MATERIAL JOURNAL ENTRIES PROPOSED BY AUDITORS

Condition: Material journal entries for the proper recognition accounts payable, accounts receivable, and drain
control accounts were proposed by the auditors. These misstatements were not detected by the County's
internal control over financial reporting. These entries were brought to the attention of management and were
subsequently recorded in the County's general ledger.

Criteria: Statement on Auditing Standards No. 112 (SAS 112), Communicating internal Conlrof Related Matters
Identified in an Audif, emphasizes that management is responsible for establishing, maintaining, and monitoring
internal controls, and for the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows (where applicable), including the notes to the financial statements, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The auditor cannot be a part of internal controls.

Effect: Through the identification of material journal entries that were not otherwise identified by management,
the auditors are effectively part of the County's internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend that the County take steps to ensure that material journal entries are not
necessary at the time future audit analysis is performed,

Corrective Action Response: The County will work toward having all material journal entries completed before
auditing fieldwork commences in the future.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Section 1l - Financiai Statement Findings - continued

2007-3 RECONCILIATION TO THE GENERAL LEDGER AND BANK RECONCILIATIONS

Condition: During our analysis of the Department of Human Services for Van Buren County, we noted that the
bank reconciliations had not been performed in a timely manner. In addition, the revenue and expense accounts
maintained in the County's computerized general ledger were not recongiled with the general ledger maintained by
the Department of Human Services for the year ended September 30, 20067,

Criteria: Internal control is a process - effected by an entity’s board of directors, management, and other
personnel - designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following
categories: {a) reliability of financial reporting, (b) effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and {c) compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.

Internal control consists of five interrelated components:

a. Conirol environment sets the tone of an organization, influencing the control conscicusness of its people.
It is the foundation for all other components of internal control, providing discipline and structure.

b. Risk assessmentis the entity’s identification and analysis of relevant risk to achievement of its objectives,
forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed.

¢. Conlrol activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that management directives are carried
out,

d. Information and communication systems support the identification, capture, and exchange of information
in a form and time frame that enable people to carry out their responsibilities.

e. Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of internal control performance over time.

The completian of bank reconciliations and other reconciliations is considered a monitoring activity and essential
to sound internal control.

Effect: The completion of bank reconciliations and reconciliation of accounts with the general ledger are a
significant part of the internal controls of the Department. By not performing such reconciliations, the
Department is not maintaining sufficient internal controls.

Recommendation: We recommend that bank reconciliations be completed on a monthly basis and that
completed reconciliations be periodically reviewed by management and tied to the computerized general ledger.
We also recommend that the Department review and reconcile all accounts monthly and ensure that the
balances are agreed with the computerized general ledger prior to audit fieldwork. The review should be
documented with the reviewer's initials and date of review and be retained for audit purposes.

Corrective Action Response: County will ask Department of Human Services to provide Treasurer's Office on a
monthly basis a Bank Statement that has been reviewed and reconciled.

2007-4 SEPARATION OF DUTIES

Condition: During our analysis and testing of the internal control structures, we noted that additional separation of
duties may be needed to strengthen internal control. Specifically we noted that the same individuals that are
responsible for printing checks also maintain physical custody of unused check stock and signature plates. We
also noted that an individual in the treasurer’s office maintains the general ledger (i.e., post adjusting journal
entries, etc.) and is also able to process cash receipts.

Criteria: The main concept of an internal control structure is to assure that no one person handles all aspects of
processing a transaction.

Effect: Management has not placed adequate internal control systems into operation.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Section |l - Financial Statement Findings - continued

2007-4 SEPARATION OF DUTIES - CONTINUED

Recommendation: We recommend the County take steps to ensure that accounting duties are segregated fo
extent possible. We also recommend that physical custody of unused check stock and signature plates be
maintained by someone independent of the check printing function. This will strengthen the internal control
systems.

Corrective Action Response: County Clerk will take responsibility for storing and distributing County checks.

2007-5 WIRE-TRANSFERS

Condition: During our analysis of the County's balance sheet accounts, we noted that the County duplicated
certain wire-transfers on bond payments, requiring a refund from the financial institution resulting from the over

payment.

Criteria: Internal control is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of
cbjectives in the following categories: {a) reliability of financial reperting, (b) effectiveness and efficiency of
aperations, and {c) compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Effect: The related bond payments were disbursed twice. These appears to be a temporary breakdown in the
internal controls over financial reporting that were designed to prevent duplicate disbursements for the same
service or invoice.

Recommendation: We recommend that the County review the procedures related to cash disbursement to
ensure that funds are not disbursed more than once for the same items in the future.

Corrective Action Response: We have reviewed the procedures and implement comrection action to include that
the County Treasurer will counter sign any wire transfer for bond payments,

2007-6 UNFAVORABLE BUDGET VARIANCES AND LATE AMENDMENT OF THE BUDGET

Condition: During our review of the County's compliance with the budgeting act, we noted that the County
amended the adopted budget after year end. In addition, we noted the expenditures exceeded the amounts
appropriated in several of the County’s Special Revenue funds as noted in the notes to the financial statements.

Criteria: Michigan Public Act 621 of 1978, as amended, provides that the County adopt formal budgets for all
applicable General and Special Revenue Funds, and shall not incur expenditures in excess of the amounts
appropriated. Also, the Public Act requires the Board of Commissioners to amend the original adopted budget "as
soon as it becomes apparent that a deviation from the original general appropriations act is necessary and the
amount of the deviation can be determined”.

Effect: The County has not maintained adequate control over budgetary compliance in accordance with State law.
Recommendation: We recommend the Board of Commissioners of Van Buren County monitor budgeted
expenditures against actual expenditures on a more frequent basis and amend the original adopted budget to
alleviate future unfavorable budget variances in a timely manner.

Corrective Action Response: All budget amendments will be approved by the County Board of Commissioners

prior to the end of the fiscal year. In addition, Staff will prepare on a monthly basis budget amendments to insure
that an activity and special revenue funds has a budget surplus.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Section Il - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

FINDINGS/INONCOMPLIANCE

Control Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Related to Internal Conirols Over the Financial Statements.

MATERIAL WEAKNESSES

Sheriff Department Receipts--immediate Recording Finding 2006-01

Condition: A cash count and reconciliation were performed at the Sheriff's Department on December 5, 2006.
The prior audit found that 85 checks received in the mail totaling $160,873.69 that were dated September,
October and November 2006 had not been receipted, and were still in unopened envelopes. The audit also
found that currency of $279.00 and 326 checks totaling $6,438.00 that were dated July, August, September,
October, and November 2006 had been receipted, but had not been deposited with the county treasurer. Other
Sheriff Department receipts had been deposited with the county treasurer, as the last transmittal advice to the
county treasurer was dated December 4, 2006.

Resoclution: The Sheriff has made very clear to the appropriate staff that ALL funds are to be receipted the day
they are received, the receipt must indicate the type of funds {cash/check) and all checks are to be immediately
endorsed as deposit only. This procedure is in place and the finding is considered resclved.

Sheriff Department--Department Receipts Register Finding 2006-02
Condition: The Sheriff's Department does not have a receipts register.

Resolution: The auditor assisted the appropriate staff in developing a journal that shows the date, receipt
number, the check origin, the amount, and the account the funds are deposited in is attached to the weekly
transmittal to the treasurer's office. This procedure is in place and the finding is considered resolved.

Sheriff Department--Timeliness of Deposits Finding 2006-03

Condition: As described in Finding 2006-01 above, the prior auditor found that deposits with the county treasurer
are not being made on a timely basis.

Resolution: It was recommended that the deposit be made at least monthly. The Sheriff has made sure
appropriate staff knows the transmittals are to be done by 4:00 P.M. on the last scheduled work day of the
week. In addition, the staff will submit the weekly transmittal to either the Sheriff or the undersheriff for review
as a quality control method to ensure timely deposits. Weekly deposits have been made since December 2006,
This finding is considered resolved.

Sheriff Department--Intact Deposits Finding 2006-04

Condition: The prior auditor found during the cash count, some receipts in the receipt sequences covered by the
cash count had not been deposited with the county treasurer.

Resolution: Effective March 1, 2007, any Sheriff Department staff person who is responsible for preparing
transmittals was also given their own sequentially numbered receipt book to ensure receipt number sequence in
the transmittal form. The issue noted in the prior year was not noted in the current year. This finding is
considered resoclved.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

FINDINGS/NONCOMPLIANCE - CONTINUED

Control Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Related to Internal Controls Over the Financial Statements -
Continued.,

MATERIAL WEAKNESSES - CONTINUED
Sheriff Department--Receipts Finding 2006-05
Condition: Receipts did not indicate if paid by cash or check.

Resofution: This issue was not noted during the current audit.

Sheriff Department--Inmate Trust Bank Account Reconciliations Finding 2006-06
Condition: Inmate Trust Bank Account reconciliations were not being done.

Resolution: This issue was not noted during the current audit.

CONTROL DEFICIENCIES

Administrator--Capital Assets Finding 2006-07

Condition: The capital asset listing was not updated until after the start of the audit as the list had to be obtained
from the previgus auditor. The county set a capitalization threshold of $5,000, but items under $5,000 were
posted to capital outlay leading to adjustments to correct the additions to the capital asset list.

Resolution: This issue was not noted during the current audit.

Administrator, Board of Commissioners--Minimurn Number of Funds Finding 2006-08

Condition: Van Buren County currently has a large number of special revenue funds including funds that are
normally activities of the General Fund such as the Court Equity Fund, Planning Commission Fund,
Remonumentation Fund, Courthouse Security Fund, Court Officers Fund, and Sex Offender Registration Fund.
These funds are largely supported by appropriations from the General Fund or revenue usually recorded in the
General Fund. The county also has two housing funds, numercus homeland security funds, and three 911
funds.

Resolution: The county administrator, county treasurer, and county clerk must establish a policy on what types

of activities or programs should be created as a special revenue fund. While numerous funds continue to be
used, the current auditors do not believe the circumstances to meet the definition of a significant deficiency.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

FINDINGS/NONCOMPLIANCE - CONTINUED

Control Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Related to Internal Controls QOver the Financial Statements -
Continued.

CONTROL DEFICIENCIES - CONTINUED

Various Departments—~Agency Funds Finding 2006-09

Condition: Various liability accounts in the Trust and Agency Fund had debit balances and other various liability
account balances had incorrect credit balances. The county was also recording revenues for recording fees, plat
fees, animal spay/neuter bonds not returned. Also, the Sheriff's Department pop can line item was overdrawn by
$1,225. In all, $62,263 was transferred to the General Fund to either balance or remove revenues from 46 line-
items in the Trust and Agency Fund.

Various liability accounts in the Payroll Clearing Fund have debit balances and other various liability account
balances have incorrect credit balances. This has led to the cash in the common checking account to have a
negative balance in this fund.

Resolution: This fund will continue to be monitored by management, investigated, and reconciled with zall the
affected departiments. Any unexplained overages and shortages will be resolved using General Fund monies.
This finding is considered resolved.

Administrator and Beard of Commissioners--Pension Trust Fund Finding 2006-10

Condition: Van Buren County was utilizing Fund 731, Pension Trust Fund. This fund was utilized to pay an
outside arganization to administer the county’s 401a plan. The result was unrecorded expenses of $199,871
posted to this improper fund from the inception of the county offering the 401a plan.

Resolution: The County has appropriated sufficient monies to cover the cost of the service, the fund has been
terminated, and the activity has been transferred to the County's General Fund. This finding is considered
resolved.

Housing Director-Loans Receivable Finding 2006-11

Condition: Loans receivable of $1,105,202 issued by the Van Buren MHousing Commission were not maintained
or accounted for.

Resolution: Loans receivable are now maintained and accounted for appropriately. This finding is considered
resolved.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

FINDINGS/NONCOMPLIANCE - CONTINUED

Findings Related to Compliance with Requirements Applicable to the Financial Statements.

General Checking Account--Old Outstanding Checks Finding 2006-12

Condition: The general checking account had outstanding checks that are over one year old. According to MCL
567.234: “Property held for the owner by a court, state, or cother government, governmental subdivision or
agency, public corporation, or public authority that remains unclaimed by the owner for more than 1 year after
becoming payable or distributable is presumed abandoned."

MCL 567.238 then states: “. . . A person holding property presumed abandoned and subject to the state’s
custody as unclaimed property under this act shall be reported to the administrator concerning the property as
provided in this section. The report shall include all of the following: The name, if known, social security number,
if known, and last known address, if any, of each person appearing from the records of the holder to be the
owner of property of the value of $50.00 or more presumed to be abandoned..." MCL 567.240 then states: "A
persoen who is required to file a report . . . shall at the time of the report pay or deliver to the administrator all
abandoned property to be reported . . . or any balance owing if an estimated payment was made . . "

Resolution: As of the current date, all stale dated checks have been addressed.

Violation of the Open Meetings Act Finding 2006-13

Condition: The board held the following executive sessions: March 28, 2006, to discuss administrator review
and employee grievance; April 25, 2006, to discuss an employee grievance; April 25, 2006, to discuss a
personnel matter; May 23, 2006, to discuss an employee grievance; June 13, 2006, to discuss a personnel
matter; July 25, 2008, to discuss the administrator's contract; August 8, 2006, to discuss the settlement of a
perscnnel matter; and September 26, 20086, to discuss an employee grievance.

These meetings were held to discuss the administrator's position and pending litigations related to personnel
matters and grievances. However, the minutes did not clearly indicate these purposes.

Resolution: The county shall limit executive sessions to personnel matters and consulting with an attorney. The
minutes shall reflect the nature of the matter (specific legal case) or the name of the person requesting the
closed session, if applicable. This issue was not noted during the current audit.

Board of Commissioners--Expenditures in Excess of Appropriations Finding 2006-14

Condition: Instances of noncompliance with the provisions of Public Act 2 of 1968, as amended, the Uniform
Budgeting and Accounting Act were noted during the prior audit. The County’s 2006 General Appropriations Act
(budget) provided for expenditures of the General Fund and special revenue funds to be controlled to the activity
level by the county. Actual 2006 expenditures exceeded the board’s approved budget allocations for several
general fund and special revenue fund activities.

Resolution: The County has begun the process of monitoring the monthly budget status reports to determine if
and when selected items have exceeded their approved appropriation. We did note during the current audit,
however, that the County amended the original adopted budget after the year end. This is also considered
noncompliance with the provisions of Public Act 2 of 1968, as amended, and this issue is noted in our Schedule of
Findings and Questioned Costs for the curent audit.
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Van Buren County, Michigan
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS

Year Ended September 30, 2007

FINDINGS/INONCOMPLIANCE - CONTINUED

Findings Related to Compliance with Requirementis Applicable to the Financial Statements - Continued.

Economic Development Corporation (EDC) and County Treasurer--Custodian of EDC Bank Accounts
Finding 2006-15

Condition: The EDC is a discretely presented component unit of the County. The prior audit found that the EDC
has a checking account, a savings account, and certificates of deposit totaling $22,829 that are not in the
county's name.

Resolution: The County Treasurer worked with the EDC to add the county treasurer to all bank accounts and list

these accounts in the general ledger. This issue was not noted during the current audit.

Findings Related to Compliance with Requirements Applicable to Federal Awards and Internal Contral Over
Compliance in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

No prior audit findings.
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MANAGEMENT LETTER

To the Board of Commissioners
Van Buren County
Paw Paw, Michigan

As you know, we have recently completed our audit of the records of Van Buren County as of and for the year
ended September 30, 2007. In connection with the audit, we feel that cerlain changes in your accounting and
administrative procedures would be helpful in improving management's control and the operational efficiency of the
accounting and administrative functions. These suggestions are the result of our evaluation of the internal controf
and our discussions with management.

1. The Board should adopt & code of conduct.

During the course of our audit, it was noted that the County does not have a formal written policy to address
code of conduct including conflict of interest.

A code of conduct including conflict of interest policy will clarify the government's position on ethical behavior
and communicate that position to employees and board members. Because the County has not adopted a
formal policy, the Board's and management’s intents and expectations have not been clearly communicated
to the County’s elected officials and employees.

We suggest that the County develop and adopt a formal written policy with regards to code of conduct
including conflict of interest.

2 The County should assure that accurate information is maintained in the computerized general ledger.

During the course of our audit, it was noted that the original and final amended budgets contained in the
County's computerized general ledger did not seem to agree with amounts approved by the Board for some
funds and activities.

We suggest that the County assure that the budgeted amounts maintained in the County’s general ledger agree
with documentation approved by the Board of Commissioners. This will provide management with a more
efficient and reliable tool to assist in the budgeting processes and evaluating the potential need for budget
amendments.

These conditions were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of the audit tests to be applied in
our audit of the financial statements. These conditions did not affect our report on the financial statements dated
May 7, 2008.

This report is intended solely for the information of management and the Board of Commissioner’s and is not
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We wish to express our appreciation for the courtesy and cooperation extended to us during our audit. We are
available to discuss any or all of these suggestions with you and to provide assistance in the implementation of
improvements.

ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

May 7, 2008 East Lansing = Rochester Hills = St. Johns
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